

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Contributing Factors to Mammography Screening Among African American and Hispanic Women: Quantitative Correlation Study

Candace Russell Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the African American Studies Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Candace Russell

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Albert Gale, Committee Chairperson, Health Sciences Faculty Dr. Eboni Green, Committee Member, Health Sciences Faculty Dr. Ronald Hudak, University Reviewer, Health Sciences Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Contributing Factors to Mammography Screening Among African American and Hispanic Women: Quantitative Correlation Study

by

Candace Russell

MA/MS, National University, 2016 BS, Ashford University, 2014

Doctoral Study in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Healthcare Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

In the United States, breast cancer screening has one of the highest morbidities and mortality among minority women with cancer. The purpose of the study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. The literature review suggested that there was a gap in research for contributing factors with mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. Secondary data sets from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System between 2019 and 2021 were used to conduct a correlational design and a theoretical framework TCSB constructs. Criteria consisted of Hispanic and African American women ages 40 -74 with a total sample size of 320. The results showed the relationship between income, education level, and mammography screening between 2019 and 2021; it was statistically significant at p < .05. The study results portrayed a nonsignificant relationship between age and mammography screening. The findings confirmed that education level and income among mammography screening affects breast cancer detection in African American and Hispanic women. The positive social change implication was to increase mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women by reducing incidence rates and cost of care while improving the quality of care. The results of the study could be implemented for improvements for breast cancer screening for African Americans, and Hispanics communities.

Contributing Factors to Mammography Screening Among African American and Hispanic Women: Quantitative Correlation Study

by

Candace Russell

MA/MS, National University, 2016
BS, Ashford University, 2014

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Healthcare Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

I would like to dedicate my study to my family and close friends that have always encouraged me when times were challenging to not give up. My biggest cheer leader has been my thirteen-year-old daughter who has been by my side through this journey.

Acknowledgments

This dissertation started off a little rough in the beginning, due to not knowing what to expect. Life itself has been a challenge let alone the requirements and energy it takes to stay on top of the requirements for completion of my doctoral study. Firstly, I would like to express how thankful I am for having Dr. Gale, my chair and committee members as a coach through my dissertation process.

There were some hard times of trying to get through certain things in life, but there were always people in my circle who have always encouraged me even if that meant me having to do homework for school and having to miss out on a little fun. My daughter Za'Naya has been my biggest cheerleader; I think me being in school has affected her the most.

Finally, I am grateful for having the opportunity of attending Walden University for my Doctor of Healthcare Administration (DHA) Program.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
Introduction	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	4
Purpose of the Study	5
Research Questions and Hypotheses	6
Theoretical Foundation of the Study	8
Nature of the Study	10
Literature Search Strategy	12
Literature of Key Variables and Concepts	16
Confounding Variable	18
Overview of Breast Cancer among Minority Women	19
Breast Cancer Incidence, Survival Rate, and Mortality	21
Breast Cancer Screening and African American Women	22
Breast Cancer Screening and Hispanic Women	24
Barriers to Breast Cancer Screening	25
Barriers to Insurance Accessibility among Minority Women	25
Barriers to Education Level among Minority women	26
Barriers to Socioeconomic Status among Minority Women	28
Theory of Care Seeking Behavior (TCSB)	29

	Triandis Theory	30
	Definition of Terms	31
	Assumptions, Scope and Delimitations, limitations,	32
	Assumptions	32
	Scope and Delimitations	33
	Limitations	34
	Significance of the Study	35
	Summary and Conclusion	35
Se	ction 2: Research Design and Data Collection	37
	Introduction	37
	Research Design and Rational	37
	Methodology	38
	Population	39
	Sampling Strategy	39
	Sampling Frame	40
	Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	40
	Instrumentations and Operationalization of Constructs	41
	Validity of Instrumentation	41
	Operational Definitions	42
	Independent Variable	42
	Dependent Variables	
	Data Analysis Plan	

Data Cleaning	45
Threats of Validity	46
External Validity	46
Internal Validity	46
Credibility and Reliability	46
Ethical Procedures	47
Summary and Conclusion	47
Section 3: Presentation of Results and Findings	49
Introduction	49
Data Collection of Secondary Data	51
Results Cross tabs	55
Mammography Screening Frequency Among African American and	
Hispanic Women	55
Age and Mammography Screening African American	56
Education and Mammography Screening African American	57
Income and Mammography Screening African American	58
Age and Mammography Screening Hispanic women	59
Education and Mammography Screening Hispanic women	60
Income and Mammography Screening Hispanic women	61
Indepndent Sample T-Tests Using Levene Test for Quality Analaysis	62
Income and Mammography Screening among African American women	n 63

Education and Mammography Screening among African American

women 64	1
Age and mammography screening among African American women	5
Age and Mammography Screening among Hispanic women	7
Education and Mammography Screening among Hispanic women	7
Income and Mammography Screening Hispanic women	3
Summary and Conclusion69	9
Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications)
Introduction)
Analyzing and Interpreting the Findings in TCSB70)
Limitations of the Study72	2
Recommendations	3
Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change	5
Professional Practice	5
Positive Social Change	5
Conclusion	3
References80	С

List of Tables

Table 1. Databases, Search Engines, and Sources for Key Articles
Table 2. Theory of Care Seeking Behavior
Table 3. Characteristics of the Study Sample Population
Table 4. Mammography Screening Frequency Hispanic Women
Table 5. Mammography Screening Frequency African American Women
Table 6. Age and Mammography Screening African American Women 57
Table 7. Education and Mammography Screening African American Women
58
Table 8. Income and Mammography Screening African American Women
Table 9. Age and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women
Table 10. Education and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women
Table 11. Income and Mammography Screening Hispanic women
Table 12. Independent Sample Levene's and T-Test African American Women 63
Table 13. Independent Sample Levene's T-Test for Mammography screening Hispanic
Women 66

Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

Introduction

Breast cancer is the second leading cause of cancer death among women (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2018). Inadequate access to healthy foods, language barriers, poor mental health, lack of access to care, and health factors adversely affect African American and Hispanic women's mortality rates and breast cancer screening rates (Miller et al., 2019). Approximately 260,000 new cases of invasive breast cancer and 40,000 breast cancer deaths were projected between 2016-2019 in the United States, with non-Hispanic Black women having 42% higher death rate than non-Hispanic White women (CDC, 2020). Mammography screening has become a major health concern because there are barriers that prevent African American and Hispanic women from participating in regular preventative health services (Miller et al., 2019; Vang et al., 2019).

Mammography screening is the most effective approach for the early detection method and means of reducing mortality rates (Susan G. Komen Breast Cancer Foundation, 2019). According to the American Cancer Society (ACS; 2019), over 31,000 African American women were projected to be diagnosed with breast cancer in 2019, with over 6,000 expected to die from the disease. Research from the Susan G. Komen Cancer Research Foundation (2019) also suggested mammography screening rates among the population groups ranged from 74% of African Americans to 73% of Whites and 71% of Hispanics, indicating Hispanic women have been diagnosed with more advance stages of breast cancer than White and African American women. Increased

knowledge on mammography screenings, better access to healthcare facilities, and preventative service programs may help detect breast cancer earlier and lead to more favorable breast cancer outcomes.

Few studies are available on mammography screening among minority women and the breast cancer prevention associated with this vulnerable population (Karliner et al., 2019). The purpose of this study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. The theory of care seeking behavior (TCSB) was used to explain study results. TCSB constructs are associated with individuals who are participating and those who are not participating in mammography screening, due to education level, income, internal and external factors, beliefs, and age (Lawal et al., 2017, p. 124). In 2018, the CDC (2018) and ACS (2021) reported that breast cancer prevention and early detection in breast cancer has saved numerous of lives. Racial disparities do exist in the use of mammography screening rates and are evident with 89.4% African American women and 82.5% Hispanic women. The disparity in access rates is attributed to education level, low income, poor access to healthcare, lack of trust, and poor knowledge about breast cancer screening (Ahmed et al., 2017). African American mammography incidence rates (rate of new cancer cases) are lower than rates for non-Hispanic White women (CDC, 2018). Women who have lived in low income or poverty demographic areas are 50% less likely to get a mammography screening than those who live in higher income areas (CDC, 2020). Further studies are needed to understand reasons for disparities, trends over time, and the effectiveness of interventions targeting

these disparities (Ahmed et al., 2017). I designed this study to provide information that will contribute to positive organizational, social, and governmental agency changes to improve mammography screening rates among minority populations.

The purpose of the study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. The independent variables were income, education level, and age, using quantitative correlational study. The following sections of the research study include a description of the problem statement that summarize evidence of consensus that the problem is current, relevant, and significant to the discipline. Also included are the independent and dependent variables along with relative rationale including methodology and the nature of the study. TCSB constructs, which include socioeconomic status, beliefs, internal and external factors, and the rationale behind it reflecting on mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women, represents the theoretical framework of the study. Section 1 includes definitions of key terms, delimitations, assumptions, and scope of the study, and a summary of the significance of the study and conclusion.

Background

Breast cancer is the most diagnosed cancer and second leading cause of cancerrelated deaths among women (ACS, 2019). Although the mortality rates have declined in
some ethnic populations, the incidence of cancer among African American and Hispanic
population has continued to increase (Yedjou et al., 2019). Racial/ethnic minority
populations in the United States, including African Americans and Hispanics,

consistently have a lower use of screening mammography when compared to non-Hispanic White populations (Ahmed et al., 2017). On average, African American and Hispanic women are diagnosed at a later stage of breast cancer than White women (Centola et al., 2021). Researchers also suggest Hispanic women may have a higher number of barriers to accessing mammography screenings than women of other ethnicities (Susan G. Komen Cancer Research Foundation, 2019).

Problem Statement

The problem was that it was unknown whether a relationship exists between income, education level, and age within African American and Hispanic women and mammography screening between 2019 and 2021 (Ahmed et al., 2017). According to Ahmed et al. (2017), further studies are needed to understand the background of disparities, trends over time, and the efficacy of interventions targeting these disparities. Understanding the relationship between socioeconomic status, education level, and age could save lives and bridge the health disparity gap between ethnic minority women and the rest of the female populations (CDC, 2013b). Ahmed et al. also suggested that mammography screening in minority groups have a higher breast cancer mortality. Research from the Susan G. Komen Cancer Research Foundation (2019) suggested that mammography screening rates among the population groups ranged from 74% of African Americans to 73% of Whites and 71% of Hispanics, indicating that African American women breast cancer cases are lower than among White women, while Hispanic women have been diagnosed with more advance stages of breast cancer than White women. Variations were found in cancer screening guidelines by age, insurance, coverage, and

income between racial groups (Hirth et al., 2016). This might account for some of the differences in access. Further research is needed to understand the reasons behind these barriers that are contributing to low mammography screenings.

There is a gap in literature regarding barriers, such as education level, age, and socioeconomic status among mammography screening of African American and Hispanic women. Understanding the reasons for barriers to using of mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women may help healthcare organizations determine what improvements are needed in the healthcare systems to minimize the disparities and improve overall health (Howe et al., 2018). To minimize disparities and improve overall healthcare, providing mammography screening at a no cost or low cost and deliver services in rural, poor, and urban communities, thus providing transportation services to and from doctor visits could improve the overall barriers affecting mammography screening.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. My intent was to explore mammography screenings between 2019 and 2021; the data were operationalized using education level, age, and income among African American and Hispanic ages 40- 74. Mammography screening is recommended by U.S. medical organizations for breast cancer screening in average risk women because of its demonstrated reductions in breast cancer mortality (McGuinness & Crew, 2018). The target population were African American and Hispanic

women in Kansas City, Missouri. There are significant disparities that exist in Kansas City with cancer screening practices among minorities and underrepresented populations, resulting in disproportionately higher cancer mortality rates in these populations (Gray et al., 2017). The results of this study could help catalyze social change by encouraging healthcare providers to ensure African American and Hispanic women receive adequate access to mammography screening thereby reducing the disparity. These improvements may demonstrate a positive effect on lower breast cancer incidence and mortality rates, higher use in mammography screening resources, lower mortality rates, and improved healthcare cost.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

In this quantitative correlational design, I explored the relationships between the dependent variables of socioeconomic status (income), education level, and age, and the independent variable of mammography screening among two ethnic groups, African American and Hispanic women. All data have been analyzed examining a correlational design to test the null and alternative hypotheses, which results in measuring the relationships among the independent and dependent variables to determine the outcome variable by addressing the following research questions.

RQ1: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women?

 H_0 1: There is no relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women.

- H_a 1: There is a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women.
- RQ2: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women?
 - H_02 : There is no relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women.
 - H_a2 : There is a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women.
- RQ3: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women?
 - H_0 3: There is no relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women.
 - H_a3 : There is a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women.
- RQ4: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women?
 - H_0 4: There is no relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
 - H_a 4: There is a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
- RQ5: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women?

 H_0 5: There is no relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

 H_a 5: There is a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

RQ6: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women?

 H_0 6: There is no relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

 H_a 6: There is a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

Theoretical Foundation of the Study

The quantitative correlation design was aligned with the TCSB. TCSB constructs determines barriers on why people do or do not participate in health promotional programs such as mammography screening programs (Lawal et al., 2017). The constructs of the TCSB included clinical factors, socioeconomic factors such as education, affects, beliefs, norms, habits, and external resources (Lawal et al., 2017). The TCSB constructs was developed by the Triandis Theory of Behavior in 1992 that were modified to fit cancer screening factors. The rationale for using the theory was the assumption of when an individual is told that they are due for mammography screening that the individual will determine what is best for them depending on the reasons they may or may not participate in mammography screening programs. The core constructs of the theory was applied to explain the relationships between socioeconomic status (income), education

level, and age. According to Lawal et al. (2017), clinical factors and sociodemographic factors refers to influences that are indirectly factors of care seeking behavior screening. Affects and beliefs, according to Lawal, included the ability to have the belief about certain outcomes of a behavior and corresponding effects on an individual's beliefs. In other words, it could be explained that an individual may believe having routine mammography screenings would reduce their odds from dying from breast cancer or having radiation could increase the chances of developing breast cancer. External factors referred to the care that is being provided to enhance a women's participation in mammography screening (Lor et al., 2013); these could pertain to factors such as geographic access, affordability, and the acceptance within the community needs. Norms are part of the TCSB constructs classified under the theory. Norms have three divisions of norms that include social norm, personal norm, and interpersonal agreement. According to Lawal, personal norm refers to an individual traditional and custom on a person's knowledge of how they see others with the participation among mammography screening. Personal norms are an individual personal knowledge of what they may think about mammography screening, and interpersonal agreement is interactions among other individuals about breast cancer screening. The use of mammography screening in racial/ethnic minority populations is often determined by how individuals perceive the barriers of ethnicity populations in mammography screening (Wilcox et al., 2016)

The purpose of the study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. The research questions align with the TCSB

constructs by asking the questions whether there is a relationship among African American and Hispanic women and mammography screening. According to Lauver (1992), intentions and habits are weighted based on individual and situational factors. The factors determined from the research questions were income, education level, and age. TCSB was used in comparison to other theories like the health belief model because the TCSB is a more comprehensive since the theory includes concept of habits, norms, and affects and has been used among difference minority and socioeconomic groups (Rollins, Sy et al., 2018) Using the TCSB framework helped determine the effects of mammography screening and the relationships between education level, socioeconomic status, and age. The results of the research may be used to increase mammography screening among minorities, reducing the incident of cancer, improving the quality of care, and reducing the cost of care.

Nature of the Study

The nature of the study involved testing the hypothesis to determine if there was a relationship between the dependent variables, socioeconomic status, education level, and age, and independent variable mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021, using a quantitative correlational to determine if a relationship exists. Further studies are needed to understand reasons for disparities, trends over time, and the effectiveness of interventions targeting these disparities (Ahmed et al., 2017). The research questions align with the TCSB constructs by asking the questions whether there was a relationship among African American and Hispanic women, and mammography screening. The use of the quantitative method in the study

allowed me to explain the set of interrelated propositions and relationships between the concepts, to determine the occurrence of events based off specified relationships of a theory examining the independent and dependent variables (Kivunja, 2018). A quantitative methodology is discovering ways how individuals think, act, and feel (Aspers, 2019). Quantitative method explains why contributing factors affects mammography screening was the best method to use as opposed to qualitative and mixed method approach (Aspers, 2019). I chose the quantitative method because the study was explained using large sample size 320 of the populations among African American and Hispanic women screening for mammography between 2019 and 2021, and percentages in discovering the relationships between the independent variable (mammography screenings) and dependent variables (income, education level, and age).

The design of the study, correlation, represents the relationships among the independent variable (mammography screening) and dependent variables income, age, and education level. When taking a correlational research approach, an experimental approach is impossible because this research will not be monitoring changes and effects of contributing factors affecting mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. Data was collected from the BRFSS 2021 database for the use in the study for the African American and Hispanic women population in Kansas City Missouri, mammography screenings from 2019 to 2021 (CDC, 2021). The type of analysis that I used to analyze whether the variables have a relationship in variations and significance among the variables was correlational design using SPSS and a basic descriptive analysis (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Correlational design was used because it determined the

relationship between the Hispanic and African American women. The criterion variable in the study were mammography screening. The predictor variables consisted of socioeconomic status (income), education level, and age. The correct research design and methodology chosen for the study was useful in determining relationships among the variable; it determined a confirmation on whether there were relationships between mammography screening among AA and Hispanic women among age, education, and income.

Literature Search Strategy

The topics of mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women in Kansas City, Missouri led to the need for more research to be conducted regarding breast cancer mammography screenings among African American and Hispanic women. The literature search identified gaps that led to the research questions and hypothesis. The second section includes the main key phrases and terms used in the literature search. Terms and phrases such as breast cancer screening, mammography use, and other combinations of key words were used to enhance the literature search to focus on breast cancer screening. I gathered information between 2019 and 2021 for the literature review; some that were older than 5 years were used to support the research. The third section provides literature review of the theoretical construct, which included TCSB that explained why individuals do or do not participate in mammography screening. The theoretical framework explains how TCSB constructs reflects on choices made by minority women and breast cancer screening due to education level, socioeconomic status, and age. The fourth provides important definitions of variables

obtained in the research of literature. The important definitions of variables provide a brief subscription of what each term means relating to the research study. The variables of definitions include income, education level, age, and mammography screening.

The literature review incorporated research databases, library databases, search engines, internet, and public sites. Some of the library databases that were used to gather the research consisted of Google Scholar, Deepdyve, Science Direct, Web of Science, PubMed/Medline, and Walden University library. All sources used were related to the discipline of the research study containing mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. Important search engines used in the study were Google, Bing, and Yahoo. Databases ranged from electronic newspapers, electronic magazine articles, biographies, and book reviews.

Numerous keywords, terms, and phrases were used to search through the databases, and included *mammography screening, breast cancer, minority populations* with cancer screening, breast cancer mortality in minority ethnic women, health disparities in racial ethnic groups, mammography screening attendance, mammography use, challenges of mammography screening, education, income, age, TCSB constructs, Methodology methods, theoretical constructs, triandis theory, dependent, independent variables, quantitative study, covariate variable, conceptual framework, and barriers in mammography screening. The search also included scholarly, published peer reviewed articles and data sources between the dates of 2017 and 2021. However, other literature older and relevant to the study were also included. Literature that was conducted more than 5 years ago were a major concern due to the possibility of literature not being up to

date based off new updated research that have been conducted on the research topic.

Literature over 5 years old was used due to the lack of updated literature and data on the research topic among the use of mammography screening African American and Hispanic women. Some of the literature that presented seminal literature was from sources of PubMed, and Science Direct.

I selected articles by identifying the main ideas of the focus of the study that targeted minority population and mammography screening within the U.S. I started with most recent issues of journal articles about the topic and then worked backward; at the end of each article, I examined more sources from there reference lists. Only articles that focused on the minority populations of Hispanic and African American women among mammography screening were used in the research. The literature review search included over 100 peer reviewed articles current and non-current that were of interest, dissertations, systematic reviews, and some that were instrumental that related to the topic of mammography screening, the theoretical framework of TCSB, and correlational studies that were of interest that were included in the reference list. Below is a table representing journal articles, article titles, and databases used that represented important information pertaining to the research study of contributing factors affecting mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. The articles listed in Table 1 explains the principals of each theory used for the headings and subheadings for each section of the literature review.

Table 1Databases, Search Engines, and Sources for Key Articles

Journal title	Article title	Databases
Journal of the American	Lawal et al., Health Behavioral Theories and Their	Google Scholar
College Radiology	Application to Women's Participation in	
	Mammography Screening	
Image Journal of	Lauver., A theory of care-seeking behavior	PubMed
Nursing Scholar		
Journal of the American	Ahmed et al., Racial Disparities in Screening	PubMed
College of Radiology	Mammography in the United States	
Journal of Jacobs	Calo et al., Area-level Socioeconomic Inequalities	PMC
Institute of Women's	in the Use of Mammography Screening	
Health		
A Cancer Journal for	C. E. DeSantis., Cancer statistics for African	PubMed
Clinicians	Americans, 2016: progress and opportunities in	
	reducing racial disparities	
Journal of Cancer	Chowdhury., Assessing the Key Attributes of Low	Google Scholar
	Utilization of Mammography Screening and	
	Breast-self Exam among African American Women	
Seminars in Oncology	Gray et al., Disparities in Cancer Screening	PubMed
Nursing	Practices among Minority and Underrepresented	
	Populations	

Journal of women's	Hirth et al., Racial/Ethnic Differences Affecting	PubMed
health	Adherence to Cancer Screening Guidelines Among	
	Women.	
International journal of	Koc et al., What Explains Education Disparities in	PMC
environmental research	Screening Mammography in the United States?	
and public health		
Journal of Cancer	Luque et al., Systematic Review of Mammography	PubMed
Education	Screening Educational Interventions for Hispanic	
	Women in the United States	
Journal of cancer	McGuinness et al., The Challenges of Screening	PubMed
treatment & diagnosis	Mammography in Racial/Ethnic Minority	
	Populations in the United States:	
Journal of advance	Facione NC. The Triandis model for the study of	PubMed
Nursing	health and illness behavior: a social behavior	
	theory with sensitivity to diversity. ANS Adv Nurs	
	Sci. 1993;15(3):49-58. doi:10.1097/00012272-	
	199303000-00007	

Literature of Key Variables and Concepts

The study focused on key variables throughout the literature review search. The variables included African American and Hispanic women with contributing factors of income, education level, and age affecting mammography screening. These contributing factors to mammography screening have only been some of the factors affecting mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. According to

Lawal et al., (2016) these are the type of factors that have been related directly to health behaviors, including seeking mammography.

According to ACS African American and Hispanic women are more likely to be diagnosed at advanced stage of breast cancer (2021). Women who reside in socioeconomically deprived communities are less likely to adhere to mammography screening (Calo et al., 2017). Also, according to Calo et al. Research shows that a woman's characteristics, such as socioeconomic status, age, and race/ethnicity are important predictors of having up-to-date mammography screening. However, social determinants, such as education and socioeconomic level are also vital as lack of awareness and poor knowledge regarding breast cancer screening, language and financial barriers continue to persist among the vulnerable population (Anushree, 2016). Studies suggest that African American women in the U.S. have increased mortality from breast cancer compared to White women with a survival rate of 81% for African Americans and 92% for White women (Chowdhury et al., 2016). The main purpose of the study were to examine the statistical relationship exist between mammography screening following dependent variables: Education level, age, and income. The hypothesis formulated from the key variables were that variations between education level, age, and income attributes did have a relationship among mammography screening within African American and Hispanic women.

The literature suggests that although breast cancer and other type of cancer often results in death, preventive care practices have improved and prolonged an individual lifespan (ACS, 2020). In the United States preventive care is on the front-line of

diagnosis diseases early for treatment. While in other societies breast cancer has been classified as a death sentence and is seen as no matter the outcome regardless of care, sought results in death that cannot be escaped from and has been taught that early detection of breast cancer will not help (Kwok, Ogusiji, and Lee, 2016). According to Morris, (2018) there have been advancements in the technology for breast cancer detection and precision.

In the U.S. breast cancer screening remains the number one tool used for early screening and detection of breast cancer (CDC, 2019). In our society today mammography for breast cancer has become a part of routine radiology instrument for preventative health measures to lower the risk of breast cancer, regardless of ethnicity or race they are (Susan G. Komen Breast Cancer foundation, 2018). Researchers for breast cancer and mammography screening in the United States suggest that ultrasound combined with x-ray mammography may improve the accuracy of breast cancer screening and early detection of breast cancer (Vang, Margolies, and Jandorf, 2018). Even though mammography screening exists, the actual ability of availability of breast cancer screening also underlines the problem presented in the study on whether a relationship exists between income, education level, and age contributes to mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women.

Confounding Variable

Age: Hispanic and African American women 40 and 74 years of age. Due to breast cancer screening guidelines according to ACS women turning 40 years and older should have a mammography screening every 2 years depending on family history and

genetics (Corrarino, 2015). For the study age were categorized as: 40-44, can choose to begin mammography screening if they want to. 45-54; should get mammography screening every year, 55 and older should switch to mammography screening every 2 years or by choice, continue to have screenings every year. Any one over the age of 55 should continue breast cancer screenings if they are in good health and expected to live 10 more years or longer.

Overview of Breast Cancer Among Minority Women

Although variations were found in cancer screening guidelines by age, education level, and income between racial groups (Hirth et al., 2016), the problem of the study was whether there was a relationship, between income, education level, and age within African American and Hispanic women and mammography screening between 2019 and 2021 (Ahmed et al., 2017). Breast cancer has been one of the most common diseases among minority women (Yedjou et al., 2019). Newman et al. (2017) argued that disparities in poverty and health care access barriers have a negative impact on the health and wellness of population subsets that bear a disproportionate share of these socioeconomic disadvantages, such as African Americans and Hispanic women. Poverty and health care access barriers are higher among African American and Hispanic women, and these communities are more vulnerable during economic challenges, such as recessions (Mckernan, et al., 2017). According to Ahmed et al. stated studies are needed to understand reasons for disparities, trends over time, and the effectiveness of interventions targeting these disparities in African American and Hispanic women. Breast

cancer is a malignant tumor that starts in the cells of the breast that is found mostly in Women (Yedjou et al., 2017).

According to other breast cancers studies from The Susan Komen Cancer Foundation, CDC, and State health departments, breast cancer survival rates vary differently among different racial/ethnic minority groups. Due to breast cancer being one of the leading causes of cancer deaths, it was estimated that there were 252.710 new cases and 40,610 deaths that were due to breast cancer (Howlader et al., 2017). However, the ACS breast cancer screening guideline emphasizes annual screening from 40 to 54 years of age, because it has been demonstrated that annual mammography screening in premenopausal women significantly reduces the risk of being diagnosed with an advanced breast cancer compared with biennial screening (ACS, 2021). Additionally, mammography use rates have been reported as similar for African American and Hispanic women by the ACS (based on National Health Interview Survey data), at 70 and 69%, respectively, but slightly lower for has at 64% (ACS, 2018). According to Davis et al. (2016) prevalence of not receiving a mammography based on age, socioeconomic status, and cultural for cancer prevention and control have been consistent with other national studies. Additionally, the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (2015), decisions about mammography screening should be made on an individual basis considering patient context, including patient values regarding specific benefits and harms and preferences regarding breast cancer screening.

Breast Cancer Incidence, Survival Rate, and Mortality

Among U.S. women, breast cancer is the most common cancer, the second most common cause of death from cancer, and a leading cause of premature mortality from cancer as measured by average and total years of life lost (Howlader et al., 2017). In 2012, there were approximately 13.8 million cancer survivors in the U.S. of which 21.6% were female breast cancer survivors (CDC, 2016). While the incidence of breast cancer among US women has been relatively stable during the past decade, deaths from breast cancer have declined on average 1.9% each year from 2002 through 2011 (CDC, 2016). According to Susan G. Komen Cancer Foundation (2020), the incidence rates is an overall estimate of breast cancer in the U.S. it has been estimated that in 2020 there will be 276,480 new cases of invasive breast cancer along with 48,530 new cases of ductal carcinoma with a total of 42, 170 breast cancer deaths. According to studies in the U.S. African American and Hispanic women have a lower incidence of breast cancer compared to White women (Yediou et al., 2017). Although the mortality rates have declined in some ethnic populations, the overall cancer incidence among African American and Hispanic women has continued to grow with African American at 2.5% and Whites at 1.8% (Yediou et al., 2017).

Breast cancer incidence has increased every year for Asian/Pacific islander (1.7%), African American (0.4%0, and Hispanic women (0.3%) (SEER, 2017). In 2019, an estimated 268,600 new cases of invasive breast cancer were diagnosed among women in addition to 48,100 cases of breast carcinoma leading to approximately 41,760 women who was expected to die from breast cancer in 2017(ACS, 2019). Breast cancer

recurrence and development of second primary cancers are affected by genetic or hormonal factors, tumor characteristics, treatments, and certain modifiable risk factors, such as smoking, obesity, and alcohol consumption (CDC, 2017). Additionally, the US Preventive Services Task Force (2018), recommends mammography screening, which has been shown to decrease cancer-related mortality by 20% to 30% in women between the ages of 50 and 69 and may also reduce mortality in women in their 40s and older women without significant comorbidities.

Breast Cancer Screening and African American Women

The primary purpose of mammography screening for breast cancer is early detection and appropriate treatment that may lead to prolongation of survival rate for breast cancer patients (Chowdhury et al., 2016). Mammography screening consists of and includes a procedure checking a woman breast before there are any signs or symptoms of breast cancer disease performed everyone to 2 years, although screening cannot prevent breast cancer it could help detect breast cancer early to improve treatment outcomes (CDC, 2018). Breast cancer screening is usually followed by a mammography for detection. A Mammography is one screening tool that is, a low dose x-ray where the internal structure of the breast is examined (visualized) to detect abnormalities (CDC, 2020). Breast cancer has been one of the leading cancers diagnosed in women and ranks second as a cause of death among African American women. (CDC, 2019).

Breast cancer is a persistent and unique challenge in the African American community where it often manifests itself at a young age in this group more so than women of other racial and ethnic groups (need reference). The lack of early diagnoses

often mean that women will present to the doctor at a late stage contributing to a higher mortality rate (Passmore et al., 2017). According to researchers, African American women in the United States diagnosed with breast cancer has an estimated range of 27,060 new cases of breast cancer, with an estimate of 6,080 deaths (American Cancer Society [ACS], 2017). At least 13% of women who have a family history of a family member that has been diagnosed of breast cancer at one point of time in their life (Susan G. Komen Cancer Foundation, 2018). Breast cancer incidence rates (number of cases in disease) have been historically lower among African American women than White women (DeSantis et al., 2016). Data has suggested that incidence rates among these groups converged as of 2012 and that the mortality rates (death rates) among African Americans continue to be higher than any other race (ACS, 2019). In Fact, only 51 percent of African American women are diagnosed at the local stage, compared with 61 percent of White women (Davis et al., 2017). Incidence rates of breast cancer are higher among White women than African American women, the rate of breast cancer related deaths, are higher among African American women (Gray Tamryn et al., 2017).

The five-year survival rate with late-stage breast cancer for African American women is 15 percent, compared with 25 percent for White women (Davis et al., 2017). ACS strongly recommends annual mammography screening for women aged 45-54 and biennial mammography screening starting at age 55(Szukis et al., 2019). Mammography remains the screening test of choice and has been shown to reduce breast cancer mortality by 22%–35% among women older than 50 years (Khaliq et al., 2015).

Research suggest, as the healthcare industry evolved many improvements and treatments in breast cancer screening evolved in treating, diagnosing, and preventing breast cancer at earlier stages these past couple of years (DeSantis et al., 2019). With all the improvements in progress, minority women are still at a disadvantage with access to mammography screening (ACS, 2019).

Breast Cancer Screening and Hispanic Women

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related death among Hispanic women, and according to studies Hispanic women receive mammography screening at lower rates than some other ethnic groups (Luque et al., 2018). According to, Yanez et al., (2016) the U.S. Hispanic women experience breast cancer disparities and exhibit lower levels of adherence to screening mammography than non-Hispanic Whites (Luque et al., 2018). Little is known about the use of cancer screening services among the US Hispanic population, and few studies have examined differences in predictors of cancer screening use for specific race/ethnicity groups (Derrano et al., 2020). There are no differences in mammography rates between Hispanic and White populations, Hispanic women tend to be diagnosed with more advanced stages of breast cancer (Gray Yamryn et al., 2017). The Incidence of breast cancer among African American and Hispanic women have decreased compared to White women and mortality rates have increased at 40% higher in minority women compared to White women (CDC, 2016). One out of eight women in the U.S. will have developed some form of invasive breast cancer, and about 40,610 women will die from breast cancer (Siegel et al., 2016). Hispanic women are 30% less likely to be diagnosed than non-Hispanic White women

(CDC, 2020), Hispanic women are more likely to be diagnosed at an advance stage of breast cancer, and 20% more likely to die from the breast cancer (Florida Breast Cancer Foundation (2016). Barriers that affected Hispanic women with mammography screening were lack health insurance, cost of transportation, language translation, education, low health literacy, childcare, clinic hours, and time from work (Susan G. Komen Cancer Foundation, 2019).

Barriers to Breast Cancer Screening

Barriers to mammography screening adversely affect affects racial/ethnic minority women and that have prevented minority women from participating in regular mammography screening (Miller et al.,2019). Researchers suggest, there are three barriers in question regarding mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women: (a) Age; (b) Education level; (c) and income (ACS, 2019).

Barriers to Insurance Accessibility Among Minority Women

The importance of health insurance coverage and access to care, in predicting the use of cancer screening services among African American and Hispanics is a sobering finding, as minority women are substantially more likely than White women to be uninsured, to live in poverty, and to report not having a usual source of care (Williams & Cooper, 2019). According to the CDC (2019) insurance accessibility were presented into four categories variables, which included private, public, Medicare, and uninsured. Uninsured was referred to as having no private, Medicare, Medicaid, stat sponsored or government health plans. As countries address epidemiological and demographic transitions, health systems need to adapt to establish more integrated health care services

that focuses on long-term care and chronic disease (Bowser, Marqusess & Koussa et al.,2018). Although there continues to be a major concern one main factor is increasing the mortality and morbidity from breast cancer (American Cancer Society, 2020).

According to other studies, contributing factors in cancer diagnosis and screening test use by race have been reported among African American, and Hispanic women due to lack of health insurance and access to care (CDC, 2020). Insurance companies and governmental agencies determine when a medical service should be covered, and physicians tailor care to the populations they serve (Williams & Cooper, 2019). These objectives may not always align, as evidenced by health care disparities among different groups (Berland et al., 2019). The largest increased odds for a mammography are from having insurance (Bowser et al., 2018). Mammography screenings are most likely to increase by having some sort of insurance access (Bitler & Carpenter, 2016). African Americans are less likely to have private or employment-based health insurance coverage, relative to whites; are more likely to be covered by Medicaid or other publicly funded insurance; and are twice as likely to be uninsured (Copeland et al., 2018).

Understanding the impact of these seven health system barriers, in a country where access and acceptance of early screening for breast cancer is low, would allow for policies to be contemplated to improve access and use of the early screening for breast cancer (Bowser et al., 2018).

Barriers to Education Level Among Minority Women

According to research studies, in the U.S. less educated women are substantially less likely to receive screening mammography (Koc et al.,2018). According to the United

States Census Bureau (2019) education level refers to the highest level of education achieved or completing. Data were used in the study that included women who have completed some schooling or none. Education interventions could play a role in increasing screening mammography rates among Hispanic women. Desantis et al. (2016) suggested that the lower education levels are among the risks factor associated with mammography screening. Damiani et al. (2016) indicated that women with lower education levels are not likely to receive mammography screenings because of the lack of knowledge and awareness. Although the use of mammography screening increased steeply in the last two decades of the twentieth century, there remain large differences in education knowledge (Koc et al., 2018). Some studies, show that interventions at clinics, with decision aids such as questionnaires and counseling, can increase patient understanding of potential harms of screening and may facilitate discussion between patients and their health care providers (Kim et al., 2018).

Breast cancer literacy (information) is positively associated with breast cancer screening. Lower educated women tend to receive mammography less often than their higher educated counterparts (Koc et al., 2018). The findings indicate that the higher the level of breast cancer literacy and the more motivated patients are, the more likely they are to be screened. White women and women with higher education and income levels may be more likely to be exposed to messages of harm outweighing benefit of mammography and to change their screening behavior as a result (Melvin et al., 2016). Women who are well informed about the importance of breast cancer and the breast cancer guidelines of the recommended screenings are more likely to be more adherent

to breast cancer screening (ACS, 2022). Functional breast cancer literacy and motivation interventions are important factors to consider when designing breast cancer screening interventions in racial/ethnic minority women (Talley et al.,2016).

Barriers to Socioeconomic Status Among Minority Women

There are significant contributing factors that exist in cancer screening practices among racial and ethnic minority and underrepresented populations, resulting in disproportionately higher cancer mortality rates in these populations (Gray et al., 2017). Other studies have shown the dynamic nature of socioeconomic disparities in cancer rates as the association between income, incidence, and mortality from major cancers has changed markedly during the past 5 decades (Singh et al., 2017). Income was information that was used that provided demographic information to mammography screening such as age, race, ethnicity, income, and education level. (BRFSS, 2019). Prognoses are excellent among women with breast cancer diagnosed early and treated in a timely manner with evidence-based surgical and adjuvant care. Most women will survive for 5 to 10 years or more with a high quality of life, but racial and ethnic disparities persist (Haji et al., 2017). However, ethnic minority women of color who live in poverty or inadequately insured, tend to be more alike than higher income women of color and they also tend to be disadvantaged on cancer care compared with non-Hispanic White women (Haji et al.,2017). Higher income (\geq \$50,000 income), and those with health care coverage had significantly higher odds of screening, and African American and Hispanic participants had higher odds of receiving screening compared to Whites (Wyatt et al., 2018).

Poverty have been a major concern when determining socioeconomic barriers affecting breast cancer screening before and after the Affordable care act (ACA) (Faustine & Emmanuel, 2019). The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), a comprehensive health insurance package, strengthens existing and expanding health insurance coverage, eliminating coverage barriers for individuals with pre-existing health conditions, expansion of healthcare coverage to low-income adults, and mandating healthcare coverage of essential health benefits including preventive health care (Medicaid.gov, 2017).

Theory of Care Seeking Behavior (TCSB)

The study was aligned using the TCSB constructs model framework. According to Lawal et al. (2017) the theory was developed to determine why individuals do or do not participate in health promotions programs such as mammography screening, due to constructs that consist of beliefs, income, affects, habits clinical and external factors (Ahmed et al., 2017). The theory was developed in 1992 based off the origin of Triandis theory but have been modified to align with breast cancer screening behavior (Lauver, 1992). The TCSB have been used for numerous health seeking behaviors in exploring women with different settings in other research studies, such as low-income, and ethnic backgrounds (Lawal et al., 2017). The table below represents a comparison among the TCSB models that have been used to explore mammography screening in women.

Table 2Theory of Care Seeking Behavior

Characteristics	Health Belief Model	Theory of Planned Behaviour	Trans-Theoretical Model	Theory of Care Seeking Behaviour
Main features	 Developed by Hochbaum, Rosenstock, and Kogels in the 1950s. Constructs are: 	Developed by Ajzen and Fishbein in 1980. Constructs are:	Developed by James Prochaska in 1977. Constructs are;	Developed by Lauver in 1992. Constructs are:
	Perceived susceptibility Perceived severity Perceived barrier Perceived benefit Self-efficacy Cue to action	 Attitude Subjective norm Perceived behavioural control Intentions 	Stages of change Processes of change Decisional balance Self-efficacy	Affect Belief Habit Norms Clinical and socioeconomic factors External factors
Advantage	It has a construct that explores the trigger to health behaviour, which is the cue to action.	The addition of perceived behavioural control as a construct that helps predicts a woman's adoption of a health behaviour.	It explores women's health behaviour through the stages of change to a healthier behaviour.	It includes broader construct such as habit, clinical and socioeconomic factor, and external factors.
Limitations	It does not explore the effect of socioeconomic factor on behaviour. It does not have a construct to explore the effect of habit on behaviour.	Intention does not always lead to a person performing health behaviour. It also does not explore the effect of socioeconomic factor on behaviour.	 Inconsistent findings noticed among studies that evaluated the relationship between the processes and stages of change. 	 The low use of theory in behavioural studies, to explore women's health behaviour toward mammography screening
Application in mammography screening program literature	Women with multiple sclerosis in the USA [15], Taiwanese women [16], Iranian women [17], Korean women living in USA [18]	American Indian women [19], Australian women [20], women living in the Quebec geographical region of Canada [21], Cypriot women [22]	Women in the USA [23], Muslim women living in USA (Hasnain et al, 2014b), African-American women [24], Greek women [25]	Hmong women in the USA [14], women in the USA [10, 11, 26]

TCSB constructs can be applied to many different factors that would affect the use of mammography screenings like level of education, socioeconomic status (income), and age while being able to explain, why people do or do not participate in mammography screening in African American, and Hispanic women.

Triandis Theory

The triandis model theory has six components, which included social behavior: social influences, affect, consequential beliefs, physiologic arousal, behavioral habits, and facilitating environmental resources (Facione, 1993). The triandis theory is the origin of the TCSB theory. Triandis theory was not used in this study. Researchers who have used the theory have been able to achieve theory-based explanations due to differences through, observations based off gender, ethnicity/race, sexual orientation, and social class

(Facione, 1993). The triandis theory is similar to the TCSB but does not have broad constructs used for research purposes and has not been used on mammography screening literature (Lauver, 1992).

Definition of Terms

Accessibility to Insurance: -Hispanic and African Americans who did not have accessibility to insurance. Using the BRFSS 2021 survey to determine insurance accessibility women were asked "Do you have health insurance coverage such as HMO's, PPO's, Medicaid, employer insurance or state assistance insurance. These were coded as 0= yes, 1=No. For the study the answers were coded as 1 for yes and 2 for no.

African American: People having origins in any of the black racial groups of Africa (United States Census Bureau, 2020).

Hispanic: Classified as one of the specific Spanish, Hispanic, or Latino categories as Mexican American, Mexican, Puerto Rican, Cuban or Chicano (United States Census Bureau, 2020).

Mammography: - A picture of the breast used by x-ray machine to detect early signs of breast cancer in women within the past 2 years. (CDC, 2018).

Theory of Care Seeking Behavior (TCSB): - A theory that breaks down the reason why people do or do not participate in healthcare screening programs (Lawal et al., 2017).

Assumptions, Scope and Delimitations, and Limitations

Assumptions

Assumptions that were made in the study were that Hispanic and African American women represent the minority populations with the lowest mammography screening use due to barriers such as income, level of education, and age. The assumptions arise because there were numerous barriers across the United Sates that limit the ability for individuals to seek mammography screening, which made it possible to assume these assumptions with minority populations. An assumption that was made in the study was due to mammography screening rates in minority populations, which represented potential inequality in access to healthcare. According to Lawal et al (2017), TCSB constructs were used to determine why people participate or not participate in preventative healthcare programs examining the constructs of income, age, and education level. Several studies that utilized TCSB constructs model revealed that the theory was instrumental in determining behaviors associated with preventative care measures. The assumptions were necessary for the study to determine the importance of the contributing factors affecting mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. The variables of the study were chosen because they were important contributing factors associated with Hispanic and African American women who had mammography screening rates between 2019 and 2021 (Lawel et al., 2017). TCSB constructs align with African American and Hispanic women decisions to participate or not to participate in mammography screening with education level, income, and age factors.

Scope and Delimitations

The focus of the study is the relationships between TCSB constructs in detecting mammography screening (independent variable) among African American and Hispanic women between 2019-2021, ages 40-74. Dependent variables included in the study were age, education level, and income that are all related to the screening rates of mammography screening between 2019 and 2021. The variables in assessing TCSB constructs (education level, age, and income) in detecting mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women were all instrumental. Anything considered instrumental in a research study is the most important influence of causing something or anything to happen (Creswell, 2014).

It was important to study the variables of education level, age, and income with the relationship of mammography screening because of the gap in literature in African Americans and Hispanic women 40 years and older with mammography screening use (Ahmed et al., 2017). The study may be generalized towards populations of Hispanic and African American women within Kansas City, Missouri that have mammography screening rates with high breast cancer mortality that are influenced by barriers of education level, age, and income. Studies have shown that mammography screening has been a concern in detecting breast cancer in African American, and Hispanic women due to the high mortality rates even with the decrease in breast cancer. Due to the concern of breast cancer screening, it was an important focus on the research problem that was identified.

Even though Hispanic and African American women were the focus of the study, due to these two ethnicity groups having the lowest rates in mammography screening other races, such as non-Hispanic populations had to be examined to make comparisons on who have the lowest mammography screenings with affecting barriers of education level, age, and income. Incorporating the TCSB constructs toward mammography screening was important in explaining the study results when determining if income, education level, and age were contributing factors on rather to participate or not in mammography screening among African American Hispanic women. TCSB constructs model is the only model being used because this model was geared towards mammography screening in women that related to the study of factors contributing to mammography screening in women.

Limitations

Limitations could apply with the use of secondary data that adds limitations on being able to justify or validate any collection of data that were collected on participants (Ruggiano & Perry, 2019). For researchers, lack of knowledge about the cultural differences among ethnic minorities could result in ineffective communication strategies about health research at all stages, including recruitment, enrollment, and retention (Hasson et al., 2022). Another limitation when using secondary data could have been collected for other purposes that could prevent access to information that is more specific to the study (Johnston, 2014).

Significance of the Study

This quantitative correlational design contributed to understanding the relationships between socioeconomic status, education level, and age to mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women in Kansas City, Missouri by answering the research questions. The findings of the quantitative correlational design may support the professional practice of mammography screening by increasing the incident of screening among minorities, specifically African American and Hispanic women. The findings of this quantitative correlational study may lead to social change by examining other variations among contributing factors to mammography screening among minorities. These findings may be used by the health care professional to increase mammography screening among minorities, reducing the incident rates of cancer, improving the quality of care, and reducing the cost of care. The goal of Healthy People (2021) goal was to increase awareness and understanding of the determinants of health disease (CDC, 2019). Cancer health disparities, such as demographics, age, gender, social class, social pressure, ethnicity, and treatment are not equally effective for and accessible to all Americans (Patel et al., 2020).

Summary and Conclusion

Disparities in the breast cancer screening is a major concern in the U.S. (Yedjou, 2019). Although cancer incidence rates have declined, it remains a healthcare concern for African American and Hispanic women, due to the level of education, age, and socioeconomic status (CDC, 2019). Non-Hispanic black have a 42% higher death rate in breast cancer than non-Hispanic white (CDC, 2020). The continuous rise in breast cancer

and lower rates of mammography screening the mortality rates for women of other cultured have contributed to early-stage detection and diagnoses followed up with effective and timely treatments (The Susan Komen, 2019). Monitoring and reducing health disparities according to socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity have long been an important health policy goal in the United States (Singh et al., 2017).

Breast cancer screening rates remain lower in African American and Hispanic women than non-Hispanic White due to the disparities (Ahmed et al., 2017). Education level, age, socioeconomic status may reflect mammography screening rates, it may be determined if there is a correlational among these two minority groups. These are just a few of the disparities factors that are reasons why mammography screening rates are low rather than improving (CDC, 2019). Having an understanding in the disparities that are influencing breast cancer screening in African American and Hispanic women is important in establishing new improvements and outcomes in promoting new programs that will help improve breast cancer screening rates (Susan G. Komen Cancer Foundation, 2020). Improving better programs and interventions could create positive social outcome by improving positive care seeking behavior toward health prevention programs for minority populations. With breast cancer being the second deadliest disease for African American and Hispanic women, these two minority groups are often diagnosed in the late stages when the breast cancer has already reached advanced stages, which reduces survival rates and increases mortality rates (Eric et al.,2018). Regular mammography screening is the most effective method for early detection of breast cancer means of reducing mortality rates (Coleman, 2017).

Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative, correlational design study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. Secondary data from the Kansas City, Missouri health department 2021, BRFSS 2021, and SEERS were used to identify the relationships between the variables. Data were gathered from surveys that represented statistical information on mammography screening among African Americans and Hispanics women between 2019 -2021. Section 2 includes the research ranging from the research design and rationale, statistical analysis, methodology that is required, secondary data, and threats to validity that was used in the research study.

Research Design and Rational

A quantitative correlational was used to determine the relationship between the variables. Using quantitative research allows researchers to investigate a hypothesis and how factors of variables influence each other (McCluster et al., 2015). The results of the research can improve the quality, knowledge, and health care policies in the health care sector through testing unknown hypotheses (Lau, 2017). Researchers have used a correlational design to identify relationships between data (Lau, 2017). I used the correlational design to identify the relationship between African American and Hispanic women and mammography screening based on income, education level, and age.

Correlational design involves predicting value of the independent variable from the value

of the dependent variable (Pandis, 2016). The correlational design was also appropriate due to observation and measures used to determine the pattern between the variables. An independent *t* tests and Levene's test was appropriate for the datasets to test homogeneity variance, whenever a *t* tests is performed a Levene's test is done. A sample *t* tests and Levene's test are used to determine the relationship between the independent variable (predictors) and the dependent variable (criterion; Beaber et al., 2019), helping determine the significance among the variables (Setia, 2016). A greater understanding of the needs of African American and Hispanic women is important for developing preventative health programs and increasing the awareness of the importance of mammography screening (Agide et al., 2018).

Methodology

The purpose of the study was to determine whether a relationship exist between the dependent variables' income, education level, and age and the independent variable mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. The target population was African American and Hispanic women from Kansas City, Missouri ages 40 -74 who participated in the 2021 BRFSS. The BRFSS 2021 is a telephone survey used by health care systems that are completed by each state health department and then transmitted to the CDC (2021). The survey includes questions pertaining to education level, accessibility to insurance, socioeconomic status, and mammography screening between 2019 and 2021. The two questions related to breast cancer screening are: "Have you ever had a mammography?" and "How long ago has it been since your last mammography?" Thus, secondary data sets were used to answer the

research questions. This secondary data set was provided through a link that directly went to the CDC website where the BRFSS 2021 survey questionnaires were provided. No special permission including the Institutional Review Board (IRB) was required to obtain access to the BRFSS 2021 data because 2021 BRFSS survey data is available for public use.

Population

The population targeted in the research study were African American and Hispanic women in Kansas City, Missouri was the first criteria for the study and had to be between 40 and 74 years old was the second criteria. The total number of female participants who responded to the BRFSS 2021 survey for study by Kansas City, Missouri health department was 320. Participants had never been diagnosed with cancer and had never had any mastectomies. The BRFSS 2021 is a reliable source of information that provides real accurate data statistics (CDC, 2021).

Sampling Strategy

The sampling strategy used for the study was purposeful sampling. Purposeful sampling is a technique where a researcher decides what needs to be known and sets out to find people who can and are willing to provide the information, which helps the data represent the study population (Frankfort et al., 2015; Ilkeretkan & Sulaiman, 2016). The BRFSS divides telephone numbers into two stratas, which include African American and Hispanic women, into three groups based off income, education level and age, which are sampled separately. The high-density and medium-density strata contain telephone numbers that are expected to belong mostly to households. In the process of landline

surveys, only one adult per household was selected. The cellular phone surveys included each adult respondent that was considered a one-person household.

The rationale for the study was to make sure only women between the age 40 and 74 years old who reported never being diagnosed with cancer and never have had mastectomies were included. Women over the age of 74 were excluded because they are no longer required to keep up with mammography screening as a preventative service. Younger women 40 and under were excluded because of possible over diagnoses of breast cancer. The inclusion categories of the study were African American and Hispanic women between the ages 40 and 74 and who reported never being diagnosed with cancer have had mastectomies.

Sampling Frame

The sampling frame of the data set involved women surveyed who were ages 18 and older (BRFSS, 2021). The study included women who were African American and Hispanic women between the ages of 40 and 74 in Kansas City, Missouri. Women 75 and older were excluded due to preventative services guidelines stating mammography screening was not required and only optional once a woman reached a certain age (ACH, 2016). Women 40 and under were also excluded because of the fact of possible over diagnoses of breast cancer, and women who also have had any mastectomies were excluded (ACH, 2016).

Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

Secondary data sets were used in this research study from the BRFSS that could be found through the CDC website (2021). All data that were obtained from the Kansas

City, Missouri health department were used to ensure all participants were 40–74 years of age, guaranteed all participants were represented, and ensured biased information was eliminated during the survey process. Participants who were surveyed in the study had to have a landline number in their household or cell phone to be interviewed. Anyone diagnosed with cancer or who had mastectomies were eliminated from the study. The two categories of participants that was collected were African American and Hispanic women.

Instrumentations and Operationalization of Constructs

The CDC developed questions on the BRFSS 2021 survey that related to the study are "Have you had a mammography within the past 2 years?" with the responses of yes or no, Level of education? With choices of elementary, some high school, some college or technical, and college graduate. Additional questions on the BRFSS 2021 survey relevant to the study also included Income levels? with the choices of less than \$10,000, \$10,000–\$15,000, \$20,000–\$25,000, \$35,000–\$50,000, \$50,000–\$75,000, and \$75,000 or more and age of each participant? with choices ranging from 40–44, 45–49, 50–54, 55–59, 60–64, 65–69, 70–74, 75–79, and 80 or older. Each of the survey questions was asked for African American and Hispanic women, excluding all non-Missouri, non-female, women over the age of 75, and individuals under the age of 40.

Validity of Instrumentation

The BRFSS is a large surveillance system that focuses on phone surveys on different types of health research (CDC, 2020). Since the data sets are secondary for this study as opposed to primary, it has not been unusual for instruments to undergo scrutiny

to establish reliability and validity (BRFSS, 2021). The research questions and tools used for this study have been tested and utilized by numerous researchers from around the world (CDC, 2017, 2020).

Operational Definitions

Independent Variable

Mammography screening: Checking a woman's breast for any symptoms or signs of breast cancer disease within the past 2 years (CDC, 2019). It is the most popular screening exam for breast cancer awareness (ACS, 2017). Recommendations for breast cancer screening has been part of a preventative health care for women 40–74 years of age every year 2 years (CDC, 2021). The BRFSS 2021 questions asked, "How long has it been since last mammography screening?" The codes used for the answers are 1 = within the past 2 years, 2 = within the past 3 years, 3 = within the past 5 years, and 4 = 5 or more years. Answers for the study were coded as within 2 years = 1 and more than 2 years = 2. All data collected was within the past 2 years, any answers not within the 2 years was excluded from the study.

Dependent Variables

Age: Hispanic and African American women 40–74 years of age. According to ACS, women turning 40–74 years of age should have a mammography screening every 2 years depending on family history and genetics (Corrarino, 2015). Age was categorized as 40–44 years of age, can choose to begin mammography screening if they want to; 45–54 years of age, should get mammography screening every year; and 55 and older should switch to mammography every 2 years or by choice can continue to have screenings

every year. Any one over the age of 55 should continue breast cancer screenings if they are in good health and expected to live 10 more years or longer.

Education level: Highest level of education completed reported as high school completion or higher, an associate's or higher degree, a bachelor's or higher degree, or a master's or higher degree.

Socioeconomic status (SES): Demographic information related to income (BRFSS, 2019).

Data Analysis Plan

Data that were gathered for this quantitative research were analyzed using SPSS, which is widely used tool used to conduct statistical analysis (Taylor Quan & Joseph, 2015). SPSS analytics has been used in quantitative research to determine relationships among variables and validate research examining correlational design. The secondary data sets were filtered for race, age, breast cancer screening for women 40 years through 74 years of age, and level of education. Some data that were excluded in this study included women over the age of 74. Women who have had prior cancer diagnoses were also excluded in the study along with anyone who have had any mastectomies. The purpose of analyzing the statistical variables for the research was to test the hypotheses associated with the research questions:

RQ1: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women.

- H_a1 : There is a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women.
- RQ2: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women?
 - H_02 : There is no relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women.
 - H_a2 : There is a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women.
- RQ3: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between socioeconomic status and mammography screening among African American women?
 - H_03 : There is no relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women.
 - H_a3 : There is a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women.
- RQ4: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women?
 - H_04 : There is no relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
 - H_a 4: There is a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
- RQ5: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women?

 H_05 : There is no relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

 H_a 5: There is a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

RQ6: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women?

 H_0 6: There is no relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

 H_a6 : There is a relationship between age and mammography screening.

Correlational design and descriptive statistics were used to determine relations among the variables. A t tests and Levene's test were the best statically analysis to use due to providing an interpretation of the variables that is understandable. The results of the data analysis represent the significance, percentages, and confidence intervals that determined the association among the variables. The association presented as statistical significance at p > .05 represented a significant relationship between the variable's confidence intervals at 95%, and a p value at p value at p value at p value at p value relationship between the variables.

Data Cleaning

Data cleaning involved detecting, utilizing, editing, and interpreting data. Data from the CDC that was used was converted into a xpt file to csv file and uploaded. The file contained the breast cancer screening study. The data involving the variables was entered into the SPSS 24 version using correlational.

Threats of Validity

Threats to validity are intrinsic and extrinsic factors. All data collected from the BRFSS 2021 were self-reported, and non-responses bias reporting, which could affect results of external validity. In many studies using secondary datasets issues could occur (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2016). Some data sets can introduce limitations in the study that includes questionnaires using those ages of 18 and above along with being non-internationalized individuals. In some cases, subjects sometimes can have problems creating biases that results in limitations to a study's validity.

External Validity

External validity was seen as a design that can include assumptions made by limitations of the study. Factors that were affected by the generalizability was a possible threat to the validity of the study. In this study only women from Kansas City, Missouri was included, limiting the generalizability.

Internal Validity

The possibility of using the incorrect datasets could result in a threat to internal validity. When there is a threat in validity in a study it may be difficult to determine whether there is a relationship among the variables representing the study. Using a secondary data set meant that no participants withdrew from the study, resulting in no issues affecting internal validity. Additionally, correlational design showed validity and reliability of the relationships of the variables.

Credibility and Reliability

Credibility and reliability were important in establishing validity in all research

studies (Liang, 2021). Credibility involves the importance of trustworthiness of health information gathered from digital sources (Laura & Jennifer, 2017). The data used for this research came from the BRFSS 2021 survey. The BRFSS 2021 survey provided codebook names for all the variables which included responses to survey questions, the variables of the study, and the values for each variable that represented the study.

Ethical Procedures

Obtaining research using secondary data could always produce ethical concerns. Following Walden University protocols on limiting ethical concerns allowed the data that were collected using appropriate ethical procedures. Data that were collected did not contain any personal information identifying individuals who participated in the study. Surveys collected from the BRFSS 2021 was information that was gathered within Kansas City, Missouri, were random non-institutionalized surveys based off the population of African American and Hispanic women, from 40–74 years of age and education level. All data were assessed for accuracy, timeframe, content, and purpose. As a requirement of the Walden IRB, this research was approached on mammographic screening utilizing secondary data. There was no conflict of interest in collecting secondary data for Kansas City, Missouri for the study. All ethical issues were addressed to ensure the patient protection and confidentiality of study participants.

Summary and Conclusion

This section of the study introduced the analysis and data collection for the dissertation. The focus of the study was on the rationale of the design and introduction to the population group. Other sections of the study introduced the methodology. The

analysis used for the study was correlational design to determine the relationship among the variables examining Levene's and *t* tests to address the research questions. Overall, Section 2 provides a foundation for the presentation of results in Section three.

Section 3: Presentation of Results and Findings

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. The research method used in the study was quantitative method using a *t* tests and Levene's test to support or reject null and alternative hypotheses, which resulted in measuring the relationships among the relationships among the independent and dependent variables to determine the outcome variable that answered the following research questions.

RQ1: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women?

 H_01 : There is no relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women.

 H_a 1: There is a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women.

RQ2: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women?

 H_02 : There is no relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women.

 H_a 2: There is a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women.

- RQ3: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women?
 - H_0 3: There is no relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women.
 - H_a 3: There is a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women.
 - RQ4: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women?
 - H_0 4: There is no relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
 - H_a 4: There is a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
- RQ5: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women?
 - H_o 5: There is no relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
 - H_a 5: There is a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic women.
- RQ6: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women?
 - H_0 6: There is no relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

 H_a 6: There is a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women.

A correlational design was used to answer the research questions measuring the frequency of mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. I conducted independent t tests and Levene's test to examine the relationship of African American and Hispanic women who had a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021 by education, age, and income. A correlational design was used to examine the Levene's test, which determines the variance and independent *t* tests that determine the significance of the statistical data. Levene's test was necessary to highlight the variance between each variable among African American and Hispanic women. The *t* tests were conducted to determine the significance between the two groups among each variable. Section 3 of the study addresses the secondary data collection, demographic statistics of the populations, analyses results, and findings of the study.

Data Collection of Secondary Data

Table 3 represents the data collected for this study was from the Kansas City, Missouri health department telephone survey. The study was in collaboration with the BRFSS 2021, CDC 2021 within all 50 states of the United States that collect annual through telephone surveys. The BRFSS is a data base system that obtains information on preventative health and risk factors behaviors ranging from preventative and chronic health measures among the different types of health populations.

The interviews that were conducted with individuals 18 years of age and older through cellular and landlines within Kansas City, Missouri (CDC, 2019). All telephone

interviews that were conducted followed the BRFSS 2021 study guidelines. Participants were randomly selected from different households among the African American and Hispanic women by the Kansas City, Missouri health department (CDC, 2019). Each participant who was selected received phone calls answering four survey questions that took 15–18 minutes of their time during day and evening hours. The variables in the data sets for African American and Hispanic women were gender, ethnicity, education, and socioeconomic status (income; CDC, 2019). All data were collected through the department of health and transmitted to the CDC. The data collection section provides demographic characteristics of the sample population in Kansas City, Missouri. Table 3 provides the variables of the study: age, education, income, and mammography screening. The table displays the symbol "n" equals the data size. The term "Missing" is the label for participants who did not complete or return the BRFSS 2021 Survey.

The variables that pertained to the study were age, education, income, and mammography screening. The 2021 BRFSS survey data were computed as follows. The variable age was broken down into nine categories: 40 - 44, 45 - 49, 50 - 54, 55 - 59, 60 - 64, 65 - 69, 70 - 47, 75 - 79, and 80 or older. The data for education level were broken down into six categories: never attended school or only kindergarten; elementary; some high school; high school graduate; some college or technical school; and college graduate (undergraduate, masters, and doctorate degrees). In the 2021 BRFSS survey, African American and Hispanic women were asked highest level of completed education (CDC, 2018).

The question that was asked in the BRFSS 2021 survey for mammography screening was: "Have you had a mammogram screening within the past 2 years?" The answers were yes or no (CDC, 2019). The Hispanic and African American women who answered yes to having a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021 were coded as yes = 1 (CDC, 2020). Those who did not have a mammogram between 2019 and 2021 were coded as yes = 2.

The data for income were broken down into eight categories: less than \$10,000, \$10,000 - \$15,000, \$15,000-\$20,000, \$20,000 - \$25,000, \$25,000 - \$35,000, \$35,000 - \$50,000, \$50,000 - \$75,000, and \$75,000 or more. The sample of 320 participants in the 2021 BRFSS survey consisted of 280 (87.5%) African Americans and a total of 40 (12.5%) Hispanics between ages 40 years of age and older. Of the 320 participants, a total of 268 (83.75%) participants had had at least a high school education or higher. A total of 120 (38.75%) participants made \$25,000 or less per year, and 212 (74.4%) participants had a mammography screening during 2019 and 2021. African American and Hispanic women 40 years of age and older were asked if they had had a mammography screening within the past 2 years. The total Hispanic women who answered yes or no to the question were 40, and African American women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening were 280. Table 3 represents the characteristics of the study sample population.

Table 3Characteristics of the Study Sample Population

Variable	Category	Black	Hispanic	Total N	Percentage
Race	Black, Non-Hispanic	-	-	280	87.5
	Hispanic	-	-	40	12.5
	Missing	-	-	0	0
	Total	-	-	320	100.0
Education	Elementary	8	5	13	4.1
	Some high school	35	3	38	11.9
	High school graduate	88	10	98	30.6
	Some college or technical	76	14	90	28.1
	College graduate	72	8	80	25.0
	Missing	1	0	1	0.3
	Total	280	40	320	100.0
Income	Less than \$10,000	28	2	30	100.0
	\$10,000-\$15,000	16	2	18	5.6
	\$15,000-\$20,000	29	6	35	10.9
	\$20,000-\$25,000	32	5	37	11.6
	\$25,000-\$35,000	32	2	34	10.6
	\$35,000-\$50,000	24	8	32	10
	\$50,000-\$75,000	22	3	25	7.8
	\$75,000 or more	27	6	33	10.3
	Missing	70	6	76	23.8
	Total	280	40	320	100.0
Age	40-44	19	3	22	6.9
	45-49	15	5	20	6.3
	50-54	23	6	29	9.1
	55-59	44	4	48	15
	60-64	40	3	43	13.4
	65-69	49	2	51	15.9
	70-74	31	7	38	11.9
	75-79	27	2	29	9.1
	80 or older	32	8	40	12.5
	Missing	0	0	0	0
	Total	280	40	320	100.0
Mammography	Yes	212	26	238	74.4
	No	52	12	64	20.0
	Missing	16	2	18	5.6
	Total	280	40	320	100.0

Note. After excluding all non-Missouri, non-female, and individuals under the age of 40, there was a total sample size, 320. N=Total population

Results Cross Tabs

Mammography Screening Frequency Among African American and Hispanic Women

Tables 4 and 5 represent the frequency of mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women in Kansas City, Missouri who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening. The tables provide the variable, mammography screening, following the question from the BRFSS 2021 survey question of "Have you ever had a mammography screening?" Participants answered yes or no. The table displays frequency, indicating the number of women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021. The term, valid percentage is the percentage of participants who answered with yes or no regarding having a mammography screening. Two Hispanic women and 16 African American women, a total of 18, did not respond to the 2021 BRFSS survey and were excluded from the study. A total of 59 African American and 10 Hispanic women (n = 69, 21.5%) had mastectomies and had not received a mammography screening and were excluded from the study. Table 4 represents the frequency of having a mammography screening among Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. A total of 38 (68.4%) Hispanic women reported they had a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021, and 12 (31.6%) Hispanic women did not receive a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021.

Table 5 represents the frequency of having a mammography screening among
African American women between 2019 and 2021. A total of 212 (80.3%) African
American women reported that had a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021.

A total of 52 (19.7%) African American women that did not receive a mammography screening between 2019 and 2021.

Table 4

Mammography Screening Frequency Hispanic Women

		Frequency	Valid Percent
Valid	Yes	26	68.4
	No	12	31.6
	Total	38	100.0
Total		40	100.0

Table 5Mammography Screening Frequency African American Women

		Frequency	Valid Percent	
Valid	Yes	212	80.3	
	No	52	19.7	
	Total	264	100.0	
-				
Total		280	100.0	

Age and Mammography Screening African American

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women? Table 6 represents numbers and percentages by age for African American women who answered yes or no to having mammography screening. A total of 19 (6.8%) respondents between 40 and 44 years old, 15 (5.4%) respondents between 45 and 49 years old, 23 (8.2%) respondents between 50 and 54 years old, 44 (15.7%) respondents between 55 and 59 years old, 40 (14.3%)

respondents between 60 and 64 years old, 49 (17.5%) respondents between 65 and 69 years old, 31 (11.0%) respondents between 70 and 74 years old, 27 (9.6%) respondents between 75 and 79 years old, and 32 (11.4%) respondents 80 or older. According to the ACS (2021) guidelines, African American women under 40 and over 74 were excluded from the BRFSS 2019 and 2021 survey.

Table 6Age and Mammography Screening African American Women

,	Frequency	Percent
Valid 40-44	19	6.8
45-49	15	5.4
50-54	23	8.2
55-59	44	15.7
60-64	40	14.3
65-69	49	17.5
70-74	31	11.1
75-79	27	9.6
80 or older	32	11.4
Total	280	100.0

Education and Mammography Screening African American

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education and mammography screening among African American women? Table 7 represents numbers and percentages by education level for the African American women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening. Of a total of 280 African American, at least eight (2.9%) respondents had had elementary schooling, 35 (12.5%)

respondents had some high school education, 88 (31.4%) respondents were high school graduates, 76 (27.1%) respondents had some college or technical schooling, 72 (25.7%) respondents were college graduates, and one (4%) respondent did not provide any education level.

Table 7Education and Mammography Screening African American Women

		Frequency	Percent
Valid	Elementary	8	2.9
	Some high school	35	12.5
	High school graduate	88	31.4
	Some college or technical school	76	27.1
	College graduate	72	25.7
	Total	279	99.6
Missing		1	.4
Total		280	100.0

Income and Mammography Screening African American

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women? Table 8 represents numbers and percentages by income for the African American women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening. Income between \$10,000 - \$75,000 or more. Lowest income level was less than \$10,000 with a total of 28 (10%) respondents, \$10,000 - \$15,000 16 (5.7%) respondents, \$15,000 - \$20,000 29 (10.4%) respondents, \$20,000 - \$25,000 32 (11.4%) respondents, \$25,000 - \$35,000 32 (11.4%) respondents, \$35,000 - \$50,000 22 (8.6%) respondents, \$50,000 - \$75,000 22 (7.9%) respondents, and \$75,000

27 (9.6%) respondents. African American women below 40 and over the age of 75 were not recorded in this study due to ACS guidelines.

Table 8

Income and Mammography Screening African American Women

		Frequency	Percent	
Valid	Less than \$10,000	28	10.0	
	\$10,000-\$15,000	16	5.7	
	\$15,000-\$20,000	29	10.4	
	\$20,000-\$25,000	32	11.4	
	\$25,000-\$35,000	32	11.4	
	\$35,000-\$50,000	24	8.6	
	\$50,000-\$75,000	22	7.9	
	\$75,000 or more	27	9.6	
	Total	210	75.0	
Missing		35	12.5	
		34	12.1	
		1	.4	
	Total	70	25.0	
Total		280	100.0	

Age and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic women? Table 9 represents numbers and percentages by age for the Hispanic women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening. A total of 40 respondents, three (7.5%) between 40 and 44 years old, five (12.5%) between 45 and 49 years old, six (15.0%) between 50 and 54 years old, also, four (10.0%) between 55 and 59 years old, three (7.5%) between 60 and 64 years old, two (5.0%) between 65 and 69 years old, seven (17.5%) between 70 and 74 years old, two (5.0%) between 75 and 79 years old, and eight (20.0%) between 80 years

and older. According to the ACS guidelines African American women under 40, and over the age of 74 were excluded from the study.

Table 9Age and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

	Frequency	Percent
Valid 40-44	3	7.5
45-49	5	12.5
50-54	6	15.0
55-59	4	10.0
60-64	3	7.5
65-69	2	5.0
70-74	7	17.5
75-79	2	5.0
80 or older	8	20.0
Total	40	100.0

Education and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education and mammography screening among Hispanic? Table 10 represents numbers and percentages by education for the Hispanic women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening. A total of five (12.5%) respondents had elementary school level, three (7.5%) respondents had high some high school, 10 (25.0%) respondents was high school graduates, 14 (35.0%) respondents had some college or technical school, and eight (20.0%) respondents were college graduates, undergraduate, masters, and doctorate degrees.

Table 10Education and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

		Frequency	Percent
Valid	Elementary	5	12.5
	Some high school	3	7.5
	High school graduate	10	25.0
	Some college or technical school	14	35.0
	College graduate	8	20.0
	Total	40	100.0
Total		40	100.0

Income and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women? Table 11 represents a cross tab of numbers and percentages by income for Hispanic women who answered yes or no to having a mammography screening. A total of 34 Hispanic women between 50 and 74 years of age. Starting at the lowest income level, \$10,000 with two (5.0%) respondents, \$10,000 - \$15,000 with two (5.0%) respondents, \$15,000 - \$20,000 with six (15.0%) respondents, \$20,000 - \$25,000 with five (12.5%) respondents, \$25,000 - \$35,000 with two (5.0%) respondents, \$35,000 - \$50,000 with 8 8 (20.0%) respondents, \$50,000 - \$75,000 with three (7.5%) respondents, and \$75,000 or more at six (15.0%) respondents. Hispanic women below 40 and over the age 75 were not recorded in this study due to ACS guidelines.

Table 11
Income and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

		Frequency	Percent	
Valid	Less than \$10,000	2	5.0	
	\$10,000-\$15,000	2	5.0	
	\$15,000-\$20,000	6	15.0	
	\$20,000-\$25,000	5	12.5	
	\$25,000-\$35,000	2	5.0	
	\$35,000-\$50,000	8	20.0	
	\$50,000-\$75,000	3	7.5	
	\$75,000 or more	6	15.0	
	Total	34	85.0	
Missing		5	12.5	
		1	2.5	
	Total	6	15.0	
Total		40	100.0	

Indepndent Sample T-Tests Using Levene Test for Quality Analysis

Conducting a independent *t* tests and Levene's test for quality analysis on education level, income and age, was important while examining the signficance and variance between each variable within each group. Levene's test was conducted to verify the variance of answering yes or no to having a mammography screening by socieconomic income, mammography screening by age, and mammography screening by education among African American women and Hispanic women. Levene's test for quality was conducted to tests the homogeneity of variance. The *t* tests for equal means of equality was conducted to determine how significant the differences were between each group. The results present the relationships between mammography screening (dependent

 Table 12

 Independent Sample Levene's and T-Test African American Women

		Levene's Test		t-test	
AGE	Equal variances	F 3.855	Sig. .051	t 379	df 262
EDUCATION	Equal variances	1.174	.280	1.998	261
INCOME	Equal variances	.593	.442	1.877	199

Note. F = Method that SPSS used to run the regression. Sig= significance level. DF= degrees of freedom associated with the sources of variance. T=means of two independent groups to determine whether there is statistical evidence that the associated population.

Income and Mammography Screening Among African American Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between socioeconomic status and mammography screening among African American women? An independent sample Levene's and t tests was conducted answering yes or no to having a mammography screening as the independent variable, and income as the dependent variable for African American women. African American women who reported having a mammogram were more likely to report a higher level of income

compared to women who had not had a mammography screening (t (199) = 1.877, p = 0.044).

To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women? The null hypothesis is, there is no relationship between income, and mammography screening among African American women. The alternate hypothesis is, there is a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American women. The null hypothesis was rejected, because there was a relationship between the two variables among having a mammography screening and income with the alternative hypothesis being accepted with a level of significance p<0.044 that represents that the independent variable (yes or no to mammography screening) did affect the dependent variable (income). If the p-value is less than p<0.05 we can conclude that a significance difference does exist (Greenland et al., 2016).

Education and Mammography Screening Among African American Women

Research question: Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women? An independent sample Levene's and t tests was conducted answering yes or no to having a mammography screening as the independent variable, and education level as the dependent variable for African American women. African American women who reported having a mammography screening were likely to have obtained a higher level of education compared to women who have had a mammography screening (t (261) = 1.998, p = 0.028).

To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American women? The null hypothesis is, there is no relationship between education and mammography screening among African American women. The alternate hypothesis is, there is a relationship between education and mammography screening among African American women. The null hypothesis was rejected, because there was a relationship between the two variables among mammography screening and education with the alternative hypothesis being accepted with a level of significance of p<0.028 that represents that the independent variable (yes or no to mammography screening) did affect the dependent variable (education level). If the p-value is less than p<0.05 we can conclude that a significance difference does exist (Greenland et al.,2016).

Age and Mammography Screening Among African American Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women? An independent sample Levene's and t tests was conducted using the SPSS statistical quality analysis as answering yes or no to having a mammography screening as the independent variable, and age as the dependent variable for African American women. There was not a significant difference in age between African American women who had obtained a mammography screening, compared to women who had not had a mammography screening (t (262) = 0.379, p = 0.051).

To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women? The null hypothesis is, there is no

relationship between age and mammography screening among African American women. The alternate hypothesis is, there is a relationship between age us and having a mammography screening among African American women. The null hypothesis was accepted, with a level of insignificance p< 0.051, and the alternative hypothesis was rejected with a higher level of insignificance. Significance larger than p<0.05, we can conclude that a significance does not exists (Greenland et al., 2016).

 Table 13

 Independent Sample Levene's T-Test for Mammography screening Hispanic Women

		Levene's Test		t-test	
		F	Sıg.	t	df
AGE	Equal variances	2.935	.095	639	36
EDUCATION	Equal variances	.0191	.665	437	36
INCOME	Equal variances	.911	.347	.689	31

Note. F =This column tells you the method that SPSS used to run the analysis. Sig= significance level. DF= degrees of freedom associated with the sources of variance. T=means of two independent groups to determine whether there is statistical evidence that the associated population.

Age and Mammography Screening Among Hispanic Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic Women? An independent sample Levene's and t tests was conducted using SPSS statistical quality analysis with yes or no to having a mammography screening as the independent variable, and age as the dependent variable, for Hispanic women. There was not a significant difference in age between Hispanic women who had obtained a mammogram between who had not had a mammography screening (t (36) = 0.639, p = 0.095).

To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among Hispanic Women? The null hypothesis was accepted, because the dependent variable (mammography screening) does not affect the independent variable (age), and the alternative hypothesis was rejected with a level of insignificance p<0.095. If the p-value is more than p<0.05 we conclude that a significance does not exist (Greenland et al., 2016).

Education and Mammography Screening Among Hispanic Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic Women? An independent sample Levene's and t tests was conducted in the SPSS statistical analysis as answering yes or no to having a mammography screening as the independent variable, and education level as the dependent variable for Hispanic women. There was not a difference in education level between Hispanic women who reported having a mammogram between those who had not had a mammography screening (t (36) = 0.437, p = 0.665).

To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among Hispanic Women? The null hypothesis is, there is no relationship between education and mammography screening among Hispanic women. The alternate hypothesis is, there is a relationship between education and answering yes or no to having a mammography screening among Hispanic women. The null hypothesis was accepted, because one variable (mammography screening) does not affect the other variable (Education), and the alternative hypothesis was rejected with a level of insignificance p<0.665. If the p-value is more than p<0.05 we conclude that a significance does not exist (Greenland et al.,2016).

Income and Mammography Screening Hispanic Women

Research question: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic Women? An independent sample Levene's and t tests was conducted in the SPSS statistical analysis as answering yes or no to having a mammography screening as the independent variable, and income as the dependent variable for Hispanic women. There was a difference in income between Hispanic women who answered yes or no to having a mammogram and those who had not had a mammography screening (t (31) = 0.689, p = 0.347).

To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic Women? The null hypothesis is, there is no relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women. The alternate hypothesis is, there is a relationship between income and mammography screening among Hispanic women. The null hypothesis was rejected, because there was a

relationship between the two variables among having a mammography screening and income with the alternative hypothesis being accepted with a level of significance p<0.347 that represents that the independent variable (mammography screening) did affect the dependent variable (income). If the p value is less than p<0.05 we conclude that a significance difference does exist.

Summary and Conclusion

The data represented in this section, represent secondary datasets and results using SPSS statistical software, running a quantitative correlational design that helped me determine the outcome of the following research questions: To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between age and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women? To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between education level and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women? To what degree, if any, is there a relationship between income and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women?

The study concludes that factors contributing to mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women prevents early diagnosis of breast cancer among these two groups. Section four includes the application to professional practice and implications for social changes for the study. The section will also include summary of key findings, limitations of the study, and recommendations for future research.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications

Introduction

The purpose of the study was to examine the statistical relationship between income, education level, age, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women between 2019 and 2021. In this quantitative study, SPSS statistical software was used to perform a Levene's and t-tests analysis that determine the relationship among the variables. The study outcomes provide readers information on the importance of mammography screening was among African American and Hispanic women to detect breast cancer.

The mortality rates (deaths) for breast cancer have been ranked the highest among African American and Hispanic women and are linked to factors like income, education, access to healthcare, and beliefs contributing to mammography screening (Ahmed, 1992). According to ACS guidelines, women of 40 and 54 years of age should have a mammography every year, and women 55 and 74 every 2 years. Women who have had a mammography screening within the past 1 to 2 years between 2019-2021 were considered up to date for this study (Khan & Chollet, 2021).

Analyzing and Interpreting the Findings in TCSB

Based on the results of the study, the TCSB constructs support the study. The TCSB constructs consist of three contributing components that support why individuals do or do not receive mammography screening (Ahmed et al., 2017). Those three components of the theory are income, education level, and age. The TCSB constructs that were represented in the study as external factors, external factors are considered factors,

such as education level, age, and income. The TCSB constructs align with the study because they predict why people do or do not participate in mammography screening.

The analysis that I completed, examining the independent sample Levene's, and *t* tests, demonstrated that there was a relationship among the variables between mammography screening between 2019 and 2021, education, and income, and there was not a significant relationship between mammography screening and age. Molina et al. (2017) stated that noncompliance actions on why people do or do not participate in mammography screening has been a major influence by income and demographic factors among African and Hispanic women. The sample size consisted of a total 280 (87.5%) African American, whereas 40 (12.5%) of the sample were Hispanic women.

Specifically, 13 (4.1%) of the women (eight African American and five Hispanic women) had an elementary education, 38 (11.9%) of the women (35 African American and three Hispanic women) had some high school education, 98 (30.6%) of the women (88 African American and 10 Hispanic women) were a high school graduate, 90 (28.1%, comprised 76 African American and 14 Hispanic women) had some college or technical degree, 80 (25.0%, including 72 African American and eight Hispanic women) were college graduates, and one (0.3%) did not provide any education background. African American who reported having a mammography screening within the past 2 years were more likely to have obtained a higher level of education with a significance of p = 0.047. Hispanic women who reported having a mammography screening within the past 2 years were not likely to have obtained a higher level of education with an insignificance of p = 0.665).

Half the population, 79 African American and 15 Hispanic women, made \$25,000 or less. Three-quarters of the women 238 (74.4%) have had a mammogram screening in the last 2 years, with 212 of those women being African American and 26 Hispanic. African American women who reported having a mammography screening within the past 2 years were more likely to report a higher level of income compared to women who have not had a mammography screening with a significance of p = 0.062. There was a significance in income between Hispanic women who reported having a mammogram between 2019 and 2021 and those who have not had a mammography screening with a significance of p = 0.496.

The research data and literature support the findings of the study that there were significant barriers among the African American and Hispanic women to mammography screening (CDC, 2020). According to the American Cancer Society (2019), 13% of women in the United States will develop some type of breast cancer in their life, with an increasing rate of 0.5% per year, according to the American Cancer Society (2019). Hispanic women have the highest survival rate for breast cancer at 96%, whereas African Americans have a survival rate of 93% (American Cancer Society, 2019).

Limitations of the Study

One limitation of the study was missing responses from African American women and education level with a total of one (0.3%) who did not respond. Seventy-six African American and six Hispanic a total of 23.8% of women of the sample population did not respond to income that adhered to a limitation of the study. Information provided in the

study remains dependable due to the quality of the research, but with missing responses from the participants it does affect external validity.

Another limitation was the analyses of the study findings in the context of the BRFSS 2021 due to secondary data being used and gathered by the BRFSS 2021 as self-reported surveys. Self-reported data are considered to affect the reliability and validity of the results, due to the possibility of bias in the information gathered. Biased overestimates of mammography screening use may have serious adverse clinical and public health consequences (Levine et al., 2019). Because the data were self-reported by participants, there was nothing to prove that participants were truthful when they answered the survey questions.

Recommendations

The study represented that there was a significance between education level and income pertaining to mammography screening between 2019 and 2021. The goal of the study was to determine whether a relationship existed between the variables age, education level, and income and answering yes or no to having a mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. Data were available on demographics, education level, and income; however, there were a small population size among the Hispanic women in Kansas City, Missouri, who participated in the study, but the sample population size did meet the minimum requirement for the sample. Not much literature was available on other contributing factors among African American and Hispanic women regarding mammography screening. A recommendation would be to have larger population samples and more research literature with the focus of factors

contributing to mammography screening within the African American and Hispanic population. Another recommendation is to create a study using qualitative research to compare the two groups that would tell their own reasons for choosing to get mammography screenings or not. Using a qualitative method could help determine other barriers that affects the two populations, eliminating any biased information.

Recommendations can be determined for future research on mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. Using a larger minority population group for studies pertaining to mammography screening is a recommendation by the researcher. The study provided by the BRFSS 2021 had a predominance of White individuals in the Kansas City, Missouri, mammography screening survey than any other race. I also suggest offering incentives to encourage more minority women to participate in research studies. Incentives could include gift cards, free passes for theme parks, bus passes, and so forth. According to Yu (2017), offering incentives does not create bias if they are equally effective across all sample members, in which case they are unlikely to affect nonresponse bias.

The use of secondary data made the study a quantitative research method. After determining the limitations of the study for improvements, it would have been best to perform a mixed method approach on the study, or a qualitative research method approach with the primary data that were being used. Collecting and formatting primary data takes longer collecting and formatting, but it allows the researcher to eliminate any bias and invalidated information from being used (Bhat, 2020).

The study identified factors contributing to mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women. Income was a contributing factor to breast cancer mortality rates among the African American and Hispanic women. Late diagnosis and late treatments in breast cancer often resulted in lack of mammography screening (Rivera et al., 2018). The TCSB constructs was the theory used that aligned with the study that represented the contributing factors affecting mammography screening on why people do or do not participate (Relecom et al., 2018). The TCSB constructs that represent the external factors of the study were income, education, and age. The TCSB theory suggested that low use in mammography screening were due to lack of education level, income, and age (Relecom et al., 2018).

My final recommendation for the study would involve stakeholders, healthcare facilities, government agencies, public health departments, and policy makers to advocate, educate, and promote, preventative healthcare measures, such as mammography screening to all levels of socioeconomic barriers and all population groups. Preventative measures could be implemented by creating outside community events, involving health education pamphlets, free services, and prizes that are rewarded. Making mammography screening a priority in preventative healthcare services could help decrease the mortality death rates across the nation (Sharma et al., 2020).

Implications for Professional Practice and Social Change

Professional Practice

From a professional practice standpoint, findings from the study could help guide healthcare organizations by acknowledging the barriers among mammography screening within the minority populations with early breast cancer detection. Healthcare organizations and providers would be able to educate the importance of mammography screening and provide African American and Hispanic women with better healthcare resources that better avoid the barriers that may be preventing individuals from using mammography screening. Facilitating access to breast cancer screenings would help increase the outcomes of breast cancer screening use (Henderson et al., 2020).

Identifying contributing factors affecting the two target populations could help identify intervention and preventative measures to target populations represented as vulnerable populations. Addressing the barriers that are preventing mammography screening could also help improve TCSB constructs that are contributing factors to whether an individual decides to participate in preventative health screening. Outreach on the radio stations and on tv shows with creative commercials and advertisements could help reach more vulnerable populations. Incorporating better foundations for seeking preventative breast care screening is instrumental to reduce the contributing factors affecting breast cancer mortality rates (Peek et al., 2004).

Positive Social Change

Acknowledging the barriers that are affecting mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women could help with developing a prevention and intervention program that tackles the barriers affecting mammography screening.

Tackling the barriers, such as low income, lack of health insurance, language barriers, and poor educational knowledge could help African American and Hispanic women

receive the healthcare services they need. Resolving these barriers could also help with early breast cancer detection and decrease in mortality rates among breast cancer.

Positive social change should start within the healthcare organizations by influencing the use of mammography screenings. Organizations can work to decrease barriers affecting mammography screening by organizing community events for urban and rural areas, free mammography screening events, and other community events that brings mammography screening awareness. Incorporating positive social changes within the healthcare organizations and agencies would help create new healthcare policies, which requires women to get a mammogram screening every year starting at the age of 45, state medical assistance programs, such as Medicaid and Medicare that automatically pay for preventative health services, delivery of care, by sending out reminder postcards, phone calls and text messages with pre booked appointments, outsourcing to other medical low-income programs, and communication between the physicians and the patients. Positive social changes will help increase the awareness for the African American and Hispanic populations.

According to Janet and Denita et al., (2016) social change has been a concept that most individuals sometimes take for granted or just may not understand it. Social change could be considered as changes in human interactions and forms of relationships that transform social and cultural institutions (Allicock et al., 2013). Educating and recognizing that disparities exist among African American and Hispanic women towards breast cancer screening is the first step in seeking research on why the TCSB theory contributes to social change (Yedjou et al., 2019).

Conclusion

The findings of the study were useful and meaningful for healthcare leaders. In summary, the focus of the study was to determine whether a relationship exists between mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women, operationalized by education level, age, and income between 2019 and 2021, women 40 and 74 years of age. The *t* tests and Levene's test were conducted and showed a statistically significant relationship between education level, income, and mammography screening among African American women. Hispanic women and education level had a statistically significant difference, also with income among mammography screening. Age between African American and Hispanic women had no statistical relationship among mammography screening between 2019 and 2021.

The result of the study suggests that contributing factors such as education level, income, and mammography screening among African American and Hispanic women determines why individuals choose to participate or not participate in mammography screening. There was alignment between TCSB theory and mammography screening in African American and Hispanic women 40 and 74 years of age; the statistical analyses aligned with TCSB constructs that focused on contributing factors that affected their healthcare decisions on whether to participate in mammography screening.

The results of the finding were submitted for publication as peer reviewed article among Walden University and other libraries and universities for other scholars and researchers to obtain data. Sharing the results with other organizations could bring awareness of how important how the contributing factors to breast cancer screening

affects the outcome for participating in mammography cancer screenings. Results of the study could help medical organizations in reaching out to the vulnerable populations with preventative service measurements. There have been huge gaps in preventative services contributing to barriers to breast cancer screening due to outreach techniques used by healthcare organizations and private sectors; thus, this has been a major issue due to the high rates of breast cancer mortality rates (International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2016). Recommendations can be made to educate the outcomes of the measurements to healthcare administrators in the United States health sector with high mortality rates of breast cancer. Recognizing social change of this kind represents a desirable envisage of the study results, which is aligned with social change. Walden University advocates for practical social change, which includes changes within human interactions, individuals, groups, and relationships that transform social and cultural change.

References

- Adams, S., Butler, W., Fulton, J., Heiney, S., Williams, E., Delage, A., Khang, L., & Hebert, J. (2013). Racial disparities in breast cancer mortality in a multiethnic cohort in the Southeast. *Cancer*, 118(10), 2693-2699. https://doi.org/doi: 10.1002/cncr.26570

 Adams, E. K., Breen, N., & Joski, P. J. (2007). Impact of the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program on mammography and Pap test utilization among white, Hispanic, and African American women: 1996-2000. *Cancer*, 109,348–58. [PubMed] https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.22353.
 - Adamson, J., Ben-Shlomo, Y., Chaturvedi, N., & Donovan, J. (2003). Ethnicity, socio-economic position and gender—do they affect reported healthcare seeking behavior? *Social Science & Medicine*, *57*(5), 895-904. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(02)00458-6
 - Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; Rockville, MD: 2010. [Accessed: October 29,2019]. National Healthcare Quality & Disparities Reports.
 - Ahmed, A. T., Welch, B. T., Brinjikji, W., Farah, W. H., Henrichsen, T. L., Murad, M.
 H., & Knudsen, J. M. (2017). Racial disparities in screening mammography in the
 United States: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American*College of Radiology, 14(2), 157-165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2016.07.034.
 - Akuse, S., Tate, K., Addison, T., Drayton, T., Kanda, D., & Sullivan, K. (n.d.). Predictors of Mammogram and Pap Screenings Among US Women. Retrieved December 22, 2020, from https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/epid-facpubs/72/

- Alexandraki, I., & Mooradian, A. D. (2010). Barriers related to mammography use for breast cancer screening among minority women. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 102(3), 206-218. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0027-9684(15)30527-7
- Allicock, M., Graves, N., Gray, K., & Troester, M. A. (2013). African American women's perspectives on breast cancer: implications for communicating risk of basal-like breast cancer. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 24(2), 753-767. https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2013.0082
- American Cancer Society (2016). Cancer treatment and survivorship. Breast Cancer.
- American Cancer Society, Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2019-2020. (2019). Atlanta:

 American Cancer Society, Inc.
- American Cancer Society. Breast Cancer Facts & Figures 2017-2018. (2017). Atlanta:

 American Cancer Society, Inc.
- American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2015. (2015). Atlanta: American Cancer Society.
- American Cancer Society Detailed guide: breast cancer.

 http://www.cancer.org/docroot/CRI/content/CRI_2_4_3X_Can_breast_cancer_be
 _found_early_5.asp. Accessed August 29, 2009.
- Berland, L., Monticciolo, D., Flores, E., Malak, S., Yee, J., & Dyer, D. (2019).

 Relationships between health care disparities and coverage policies for breast, colon, and lung cancer screening. *Journal of the American College of Radiology:*JACR, 16(4PtB), 580-585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2018.12.025

- Bhargava, S., Moen, K., Qureshi, S. A., & Hofvind, S. (2018). Mammographic screening attendance among immigrant and minority women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Radiologica*, *59*(11), 1285-1291. https://doi.org/10.1177/0284185118758132
- Bhat, A. (2020, April 23). Secondary research- Definition, methods, and examples.

 QuestionPro. https://www.questionpro.com/blog/secondary-research/
- Bibb, S. C., Mollah, F. N., & Morgan, B. J. (2014). Evaluation of the behavioral risk factor surveillance system as a potential index model for total force fitness.

 **Military Medicine*, 179(5), 529-539.https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149908.
- Bitler, M. P., & Carpenter, C. S. (2016). Health insurance mandates, mammography, and breast cancer diagnoses. *American Economic Journal. Economic Policy*, 8(3), 39-68. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20120298.
- Bobo JK, Dean D, Stovall C, Mendez M, Caplan L. Factors That May Discourage

 Annual Mammography among Low-Income Women with Access to Free

 Mammograms: A Study Using Multi-Ethnic, Multiracial Focus Groups.

 Psychological Reports. 1999;85(2):405-416. https://doi.org/

 10.2466/pr0.1999.85.2.405.
- Bonafede, M., Miller, J., Pohlman, S., Troeger, K., Sprague, B., Herschorn, S., & Winer, I. (2019). Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Screening: Patterns among Women with Medicaid and Commercial Insurance. American journal of preventive medicine, 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2019.04.010

- Bowser, D., Marqusee, H., El Koussa, M., & Atun, R. (2018). Health system barriers and enablers to early access to breast cancer screening, detection, and diagnosis: a global analysis applied to the MENA region. Public health, 152, 58-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2017.07.020
- Breast cancer facts and statistics. Susan G. Komen®. (2022, January 11). Retrieved March 31, 2021, from https://www.komen.org/breast-cancer/facts-statistics/
- Calo, W., Vernon, S., Lairson, D., & Linder, S. (2017). Area-level Socioeconomic

 Inequalities in the Use of Mammography Screening: A Multilevel Analysis of the

 Health of Houston Survey. Women's health issues: official publication of the

 Jacobs Institute of Women's Health, 26(2), 201-7. doi.org/

 10.1016/j.whi.2015.11.002
- C. E. DeSantis, R. L. Siegel, A. G. Sauer et al., "Cancer statistics for African Americans, 2016: progress and opportunities in reducing racial disparities," *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 290–308, 2016. https://doi.org/10.21037/tau.2017.09.11
- Champion V, Skinner CS. The Health Belief Model. In: Glanz K, Rimer B, Viswanath K, editors. Health behavior and health education. 4. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass; 2008. pp. 45–65. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10410236.2013.873363

- Chin, M. H., Walters, A. E., Cook, S. C., & Huang, E. S. (2007). Interventions to reduce racial and ethnic disparities in health care. Medical care research and review:

 MCRR, 64(5 Suppl), 7S–28S. https://doi:10.1177/1077558707305413.
- Chowdhury, R., David, N., Bogale, A., Nandy, S., Habtemariam, T., & Tameru, B. (2016). Assessing the Key Attributes of Low Utilization of Mammography Screening and Breast-self Exam among African American Women. Journal of Cancer, 7(5), 532–537. https://doi:10.7150/jca.12963.
- Coleman, C. (2017). Early Detection and Screening for Breast Cancer. Seminars in Oncology Nursing, 33(2), 141-155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2017.02.009
- Creswell, J. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and mixed method approaches (Laureate Education, custom ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Crouzet, B., W. Parker, D. and Pathak, R. (2014), "Preparing for productivity intervention initiatives", International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, Vol. 63 No. 7, pp. 946-959. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJPPM-10-2013-0175.
- Data collection and sharing was supported by the National Cancer Institute-funded Breast Cancer Surveillance Consortium (HHSN261201100031C). You can learn more about the BCSC at: http://www.bcsc-research.org.
- Data Resources | Agency for Healthcare Research & Quality. (n.d.). Retrieved September 14,2018,fromhttps://www.ahrq.gov/data/resources/index.html?f%5B0%5D=field_data_resource_topic%3A14363.

- Davis, C., Cadet, T., Moore, M., & Darby, K. (2017). A Comparison of Compliance and Noncompliance in Breast Cancer Screening among African American Women.Health & Social Work, 42(3), 159-166. https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/hlx027
- DeSantis, C., Ma, J., Gaudet, M., Newman, L., Miller, K., Goding Sauer, A., Jemal, A., & Siegel, R. (2019). Breast cancer statistics, 2019. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 69(6), 438-451. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21583
- DeSantis CE, Ma J, Goding Sauer A, Newman LA., & Jemal A. Breast cancer statistics, 2017, racial disparity in mortality by state. CA Cancer J Clin. 2017; 67:439–448. https://doi.org/0.3322/caac.21412.
- Eisemann, N., Waldmann, A., & Katalinic, A. (2013). Epidemiology of Breast Cancer Current Figures and Trends. *Geburtshilfe und Frauenheilkunde*, 73(2), 130–135. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0032-1328075.
- Elewonibi, B., Thierry, A., & Miranda, P. (2016). Examining Mammography Use by Breast Cancer Risk, Race, Nativity, and Socioeconomic Status. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 20(1), 59-65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0502-3.
- Facione NC. The Triandis model for the study of health and illness behavior: a social behavior theory with sensitivity to diversity. ANS Adv Nurs Sci. 1993

 Mar;15(3):49-58. https://doi.org/10.1097/00012272-199303000-00007. PMID: 8434903.
- Fayanju, O. M., Kraenzle, S., Drake, B. F., Oka, M., & Goodman, M. S. (2014).

 Perceived barriers to mammography among underserved women in a Breast

- Health Center Outreach Program. American journal of surgery, 208(3), 425–434. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2014.03.005.
- Fujioka, J. K., Bickford, J., Gritke, J., Stamenova, V., Jamieson, T., Bhatia, R. S., & Desveaux, L. (2021). Implementation Strategies to Improve Engagement With a Multi-Institutional Patient Portal: Multimethod Study. Journal of medical Internet research, 23(10), e28924. https://doi.org/10.2196/28924.
- Gibbons, J., Schiaffino, M.K. Determining the spatial heterogeneity underlying racial and ethnic differences in timely mammography screening. Int J Health Geogr 15, 39 (2016) https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-016-0067-3.
- Gray, T. F., Cudjoe, J., Murphy, J., Thorpe, R. J., Wenzel, J., & Han, H.-R. (2017).

 Disparities in Cancer Screening Practices among Minority and Underrepresented Populations. Seminars in Oncology Nursing, 33(2), 184–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2017.02.008.
- Greenland, S., Senn, S. J., Rothman, K. J., Carlin, J. B., Poole, C., Goodman, S. N., & Altman, D. G. (2016). Statistical tests, P values, confidence intervals, and power: a guide to misinterpretations. European journal of epidemiology, 31(4), 337–350. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-016-0149-3.
- Haji-Jama, S., Gorey, K. M., Luginaah, I. N., Zou, G., Hamm, C., & Holowaty, E. J.
 (2016). Disparities among Minority Women with Breast Cancer Living in
 Impoverished Areas of California. *Cancer Control*, 157–
 162. https://doi.org/10.1177/107327481602300210.

- Hall, I. J., Tangka, F., Sabatino, S. A., Thompson, T. D., Graubard, B. I., & Breen, N. (2018). Patterns and Trends in Cancer Screening in the United States. *Preventing chronic disease*, 15, E97. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.170465.
- Henderson, V., Tossas-Milligan, K., Martinez, E., Williams, B., Torres, P., Mannan, N., Green, L., Thompson, B., Winn, R., & Eamp; Watson, K. S. (2020). Implementation of an integrated framework for a breast cancer screening and navigation program for women from underresourced communities. Cancer, 126(S10), 2481–2493.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.32843.
- Howe, C., Dulin-Keita, A., Cole, S., Hogan, J., Lau, B., Moore, R., Mathews, W., Crane,
 H., Drozd, D., Geng, E., Boswell, S., Napravnik, S., Jr., J., Mugavero, M., &
 Systems, F. (2018). Evaluating the Population Impact on Racial/Ethnic Disparities
 in HIV in Adulthood of Intervening on Specific Targets: A Conceptual and
 Methodological Framework. American Journal of Epidemiology, 187(2), 316-325. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwx247.
- Howlader N, Noone AM, Krapcho M, Miller D, Brest A, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z, Mariotto A, Lewis DR, Chen HS, Feuer EJ, Cronin KA (eds). SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2016, National Cancer Institute. Bethesda, MD, https://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975_2016/, based on November 2018 SEER data submission, posted to the SEER web site, April 2019.
- Hirth, J. M., Laz, T. H., Rahman, M., & Berenson, A. B. (2016). Racial/Ethnic Differences Affecting Adherence to Cancer Screening Guidelines Among

- Women. Journal of women's health (2002), 25(4), 371–380. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5270.
- Humphrey LL, Helfand M, Chan BK, Woolf SH. Breast cancer screening: a summary of the evidence for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 2002; 137:347–360 [PubMed]. https://doi.org/ 10.7326/0003-4819-137-5_part_1-200209030-00012.
- Imenda, S. (2014). Is There a Conceptual Difference between Theoretical and Conceptual Frameworks? *Journal of Social Sciences*, *38*(2), 185–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/09718923.2014.11893249.
- Jones, C. W., & Platts-Mills, T. F. (2012). Understanding commonly encountered limitations in clinical research: an emergency medicine resident's perspective. *Annals of emergency medicine*, *59*(5), 425–431.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2011.05.024
- Jones KM, Power ML, Queenan JT, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in breastfeeding.

 Breastfeed Med. 2015;10(4):186–196. https://doi.org/10.1089/bfm.2014.0152
- Karliner, L. S., Kaplan, C., Livaudais-Toman, J., & Kerlikowske, K. (2019).
 Mammography facilities serving vulnerable women have longer follow-up times.
 Health services research, 54 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), 226–233.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13083.
- Khalil, S., Hatch, L., Price, C., Palakurty, S., Simoneit, E., Radisic, A., Pargas, A.,Shetty, I., Lyman, M., Couchot, P., Roetzheim, R., Guerra, L., & Gonzalez, E.(2019). Addressing Breast Cancer Screening Disparities Among Uninsured and

- Insured Patients: A Student-Run Free Clinic Initiative. Journal of Community Health, OnlineFirst, 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-019-00767-x
- Khaliq W, Aamar A, Wright SM. Predictors of Non-Adherence to Breast Cancer
 Screening among Hospitalized Women. PLoS One. 2015;10(12):e0145492.
 Published 2015 Dec 28. https://doi.org10.1371/journal.pone.0145492.
- Khaliq, W., Landis, R., & Wright, S. (2017). Improving Breast Cancer Screening

 Adherence Among Hospitalized Women. Journal of Women's Health, 0(0),

 https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2016.5939.
- Kim, H., Filson, C., Joski, P., von Esenwein, S., & Lipscomb, J. (2018). Association Between Online Information-Seeking and Adherence to Guidelines for Breast and Prostate Cancer Screening. Preventing chronic disease, 15, E45.
 https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.170147.
- Kim T. K. (2015). T test as a parametric statistic. Korean journal of anesthesiology, 68(6), 540–546. https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2015.68.6.540.
- Khan, M., & Delet, A. (2021, January 1). Breast cancer screening: Common questions and answers. American Family Physician. Retrieved April 13, 2022, from https://www.aafp.org/afp/2021/0101/p33.html.
- Koç, H., O'Donnell, O., & Van Ourti, T. (2018). What Explains Education Disparities in Screening Mammography in the United States? A Comparison with The Netherlands. *International journal of environmental research and public* health, 15(9), 1961. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091961.

- Komen, S. G. (n.d.). Breast Cancer Foundation. Retrieved December 16, 2019, from https://ww5.komen.org>>BreastCancer>BreastcancerscreeningforWomen.
- Lannin DR, Mathews HF, Mitchell J, Swanson MS, Swanson FH, Edwards MS.

 Influence of Socioeconomic and Cultural Factors on Racial Differences in LateStage Presentation of Breast Cancer. JAMA. 1998;279(22):1801–1807.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.279.22.1801.
- Lapeyrouse, L., Miranda, P., Morera, O., Heyman, J., & Balcazar, H. (2016). Healthcare

 Use and Mammography Among Latinas With and Without Health Insurance Near
 the US-Mexico Border. Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities, 4(2),

 282-287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-016-0227-y
- Lau F. Chapter 12 Methods for Correlational Studies. In: Lau F, Kuziemsky C, editors.

 Handbook of eHealth Evaluation: An Evidence-based Approach [Internet].

 Victoria (BC): University of Victoria; 2017 Feb 27. Available from:

 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK481614/
- Lauver, D. (1992). A theory of care-seeking behavior. Image J Nurs Sch 24, 281–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.1992.tb00734.x
- Lawal, O., Murphy, F., Hogg, P., & Nightingale, J. (2017). Health Behavioral Theories and Their Application to Women's Participation in Mammography

 Screening. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Radiation Sciences*, 48(2), 122–127.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmir.2016.12.002.
- Lawson HW, Henson R, Bobo JK, Kaeser MK. Implementing recommendations for the early detection of breast and cervical cancer among low-income women.

- Oncology (Williston Park). 2000 Nov;14(11):1528-30, 1638, 1641-2 passim. PMID: 11125939.
- Levine RS, Kilbourne BJ, Sanderson M, et al Lack of validity of self-reported mammography data Family Medicine and Community Health 2019;7: e000096. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000096.
- Liang, H. (2021). More reliable breast cancer risk assessment for every woman. Cancer Cell, 39(4), 457–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2021.02.018
- Lor M, Khang PY, Xiong P, Moua KF, Lauver D. Understanding Hmong women's beliefs, feelings, norms, and external conditions about breast and cervical cancer screening. Public Health Nurs. 2013 Sep-Oct;30(5):420-8. https://doi.org/
 10.1111/phn.12043. Epub 2013 Apr 5. PMID: 24000914.
- Luque JS, Logan A, Soulen G, Armeson KE, Garrett DM, Davila CB, Ford ME.

 Systematic Review of Mammography Screening Educational Interventions for Hispanic Women in the United States. J Cancer Educ. 2019 Jun;34(3):412-422.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s13187-018-1321-0. PMID: 29330754; PMCID: PMC6043417.
- Mandelblatt JS, Cronin KA, Bailey S, et al. Effects of mammography screening under different screening schedules: model estimates of potential benefits and harms.

 Annals of Internal Medicine 2009;151(10):738-747. https://doi.org/
 10.1059/0003-4819-151-10-200911170-00010

- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. Perfusion, 30(7), 537–542. https://doi.org/10.1177/0267659114559116.
- McGuinness JE, Crew KD. The Challenges of Screening Mammography in Racial/Ethnic Minority Populations in the United States: A mini-review and observations from a predominantly Hispanic community. J Cancer Treatment Diagn. 2018;2(2):16-20. Epub 2018 Apr 5. PMID: 30112517; PMCID: PMC6089539.
- McKernan S, Ratcliffe C, Steuerle E, Zhang S. Impact of the great recession and beyond: disparities in wealth building by generation and race.

 http://inequality.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/McKernan%20et%20al_GreatRec essionWealth_WorkingPaper.pdf. Accessed 30 April 2017.
- Medical Expenditure Panel Survey MEPSnet Query Tool. (n.d.). Retrieved September 14, 2018, from https://meps.ahrq.gov/mepsweb/data_stats/meps_query.jsp
- Melvin CL, Jefferson MS, Rice LJ, Cartmell KB, Halbert CH. Predictors of Participation in Mammography Screening among Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, and Hispanic Women. *Front Public Health*. 2016;4:188. Published 2016 Sep 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00188.
- Miglioretti DL, Zhu W, Kerlikowske K, et al. Breast Tumor Prognostic Characteristics and Biennial vs Annual Mammography, Age, and Menopausal Status. JAMA Oncol. 2015;1(8):1069–1077. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.3084

- Miles, R. C., Onega, T., & Lee, C. I. (2018). Addressing Potential Health Disparities in the Adoption of Advanced Breast Imaging Technologies. Academic Radiology, 25(5), 547–551. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.acra.2017.05.021
- Miller, B., Bowers, J., Payne, J., & Moyer, A. (2019). Barriers to mammography screening among racial and ethnic minority women. Social Science & Medicine, 239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112494
- Miranda-Diaz, C., Betancourt, E., Ruiz-Candelaria, Y., & Hunter-Mellado, R. (2015).

 Barriers for Compliance to Breast, Colorectal, and Cervical Screening Cancer

 Tests among Hispanic Patients. International Journal of Environmental Research
 and Public Health, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13010021
- Molina Y., Silva A., and Rauscher G.H.: Racial/ethnic disparities in time to a breast cancer diagnosis: the mediating effects of health care facility factors. Med Care 2015; 53: pp. 872-878. https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.00000000000000017
- Molina, Y., Plascak, J. J., Patrick, D. L., Bishop, S., Coronado, G. D., & Beresford, S. A. (2017). Neighborhood Predictors of Mammography Barriers Among US-Based Latinas. Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities, 4(2), 233–242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-016-0222-3
- Mona Sarfaty, Richard Wender, & Robert Smith (2011). Promoting Cancer Screening within the patient centered medical home. Journal of American cancer society. 61(6)397-408. https://doi.org/ 10.3322/caac.20125
- Moore de Peralta, A., Holaday, B. & McDonell, J.R. J Immigrant Minority Health (2015) 17: 684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-014-9997-7

- Morris, E., Feig, S. A., Drexler, M., & Lehman, C. (2015). Implications of

 Overdiagnosis: Impact on Screening Mammography Practices. Population health
 management, 18 Suppl 1(Suppl 1), S3–S11. https://doi.org/
 10.1089/pop.2015.29023.mor
- National Research Council (US); Institute of Medicine (US); Woolf SH, Aron L, editors.

 U.S. Health in International Perspective: Shorter Lives, Poorer Health.

 Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2013. 4, Public Health and

 Medical Care Systems. https://doi.org/10.17226/13497
- National Institutes of Health. (2010). Behavioral and social science research on understanding and reducing health disparities. Retrieved from http://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/pa-files/PAR-10-136.html
- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.a). What is prevention? Retrieved from www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/prevention/breast/Patient/pagel1 National Cancer Institute. (n.d.b). Breast cancer risk in American women. Retrieved from http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/detection/probability-breast-cancer
- National Cancer Institute. (2012a). Mammograms: Fact sheet. Retrieved from www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/detection/mammogram National Cancer Institute. (2012b). Ductal carcinoma in situ. Retrieved from www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/treatment/breast/healthprofessional/page4#top
- National Cancer Institute. (2014). Stages of breast cancer. Retrieved from http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/pdq/treatment/breast/Patient/Page2

- Passmore, S. R., Williams-Parry, K. F., Casper, E., & Thomas, S. B. (2017). Message

 Received: African American Women and Breast Cancer Screening. *Health*Promotion Practice, 18(5), 726–733. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839917696714
- Power, E. J., Chin, M. L., & Haq, M. M. (2018). Breast Cancer Incidence and Risk Reduction in the Hispanic Population. Cureus, 10(2), e2235.

 https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.2235
- Peek, M. E., & Han, J. H. (2004). Disparities in screening mammography. Current status, interventions and implications. Journal of general internal medicine, 19(2), 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2004.30254.x
- Ratzan SCPR. In: National Library of Medicine Current Bibliographies in Medicine:

 Health Literacy. Selden CRZM, Ratzan SC, Parker RM, editors. Bethesda:

 National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
- Rauscher, G. H., Allgood, K. L., Whitman, S., & Conant, E. (2012). Disparities in screening mammography services by race/ethnicity and health insurance. *Journal of women's health* (2002), 21(2), 154–160. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2010.2415.
- Relecom, A., Arzel, B. & Perneger, T. Effect of an organized screening program on socioeconomic inequalities in mammography practice, knowledge and

- attitudes. *Int J Equity Health* **17,** 95 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-018-0811-3
- Richardson, L., Henley, S., Miller, J., Massetti, G., & Thomas, C. (2017). Patterns and Trends in Age-Specific Black-White Differences in Breast Cancer Incidence and Mortality United States, 1999-2014. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 65(40), 1093-1098.
- Rivera-Franco, M. M., & Leon-Rodriguez, E. (2018). Delays in Breast Cancer Detection and Treatment in Developing Countries. Breast cancer: basic and clinical research, 12, 1178223417752677. https://doi.org/10.1177/1178223417752677
- Rollins, L., Sy, A., Crowell, N., Rivers, D., Miller, A., Cooper, P., Teague, D., Jackson,
 C., Henry Akintobi, T., & Ofili, E. (2018). Learning and Action in Community
 Health: Using the Health Belief Model to Assess and Educate African American
 Community Residents about Participation in Clinical Research. *International*journal of environmental research and public health, 15(9), 1862.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091862
- Sabatino, Susan A. MD, MPH*; Coates, Ralph J. PhD*; Uhler, Robert J. MA*; Breen, Nancy PhD†; Tangka, Florence PhD*; Shaw, Kate M. MS* Disparities in Mammography Use Among US Women Aged 40–64 Years, by Race, Ethnicity, Income, and Health Insurance Status, 1993 and 2005, Medical Care: July 2008 Volume 46 Issue 7 p 692-700 https://doi.org/

- Seiler, A., Murdock, K., Garcini, L., Chirinos, D., Ramirez, J., Jackson, B., & Fagundes,
 C. (2017). Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Breast Cancer Incidence, Risk Factors,
 Health Care Utilization, and Outcomes in the USA. Current Breast Cancer
 Reports, 9(2), 91-99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s112609-017-0247-6.
- Selvin, E., & Brett, K. (2003). Breast and Cervical Cancer Screening: Sociodemographic Predictors Among White, Black, and Hispanic Women. American Journal of Public Health, 93(4), 618. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.93.4.618
- Serrano-Gomez, S.J., Sanabria-Salas, M.C. & Fejerman, L. Breast Cancer Health

 Disparities in Hispanics/Latinas. *Curr Breast Cancer Rep* **12**, 175–184 (2020).

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s12609-020-00370-3
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 3: Cross-sectional studies. Indian *Journal of Dermatology*, 61(3), 261-264. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.182410
- Sharma, K. P., Grosse, S. D., Maciosek, M. V., Joseph, D., Roy, K., Richardson, L. C., & Jaffe, H. (2020). Preventing Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Deaths:

 Assessing the Impact of Increased Screening. Preventing chronic disease, 17,

 E123. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd17.200039
- Shoemaker, M. L., & White, M. C. (2016). Breast and cervical cancer screening among Hispanic subgroups in the USA: estimates from the National Health Interview Survey 2008, 2010, and 2013. Cancer Causes & Control, 27(3), 453–457. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-016-0718-5

- SPSS *About SPSS Inc.* http://www.spss.com.hk/corpinfo/history.htm (accessed October 22, 2021).
- Stark P. Congressional intent for the HITECH Act. Am J Manag Care. 2010;16: SP24–8. [PubMed]
- Steckler, A., McLeroy, K., & Holtzman, D. (2010). Godfrey H. Hochbaum (1916-1999):

 From social psychology to health behavior and health education. American

 Journal of Public Health, 100(10), 1864.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.189118
- Szukis, H., Qin, B., Xing, C., Doose, M., Xu, B., Tsui, J., Lin, Y., Hirshfield, K., Ambrosone, C., Demissie, K., Hong, C., Bandera, E., & Llanos, A. (2019).
 Factors Associated with Initial Mode of Breast Cancer Detection among Black
 Women in the Women's Circle of Health Study. Journal of oncology, 2019,
 https://doi.org/3529651-3529651.
- Talley, C., Yang, L., & Williams, K. (2016). Breast Cancer Screening Paved with Good Intentions: Application of the Information–Motivation–Behavioral Skills Model to Racial/Ethnic Minority Women. Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health, 19(6), 1362-1371. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-016-0355-9
- The Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Sixth Edition,

 Chapter 7, includes numerous examples of reference list entries. For more

 information on references or APA style, consult the APA website or the Walden

 Writing Center website.

- The Susan G Komen breast cancer foundation. (n.d.). Retrieved March 18, 2022, from https://www.healthlives.info/the-susan-g-komen-breast-cancer-foundation/
- Tripathy JP. Secondary Data Analysis: Ethical Issues and Challenges. Iran J Public Health. 2013 Dec;42(12):1478-9. PMID: 26060652; PMCID: PMC4441947.
- U.S. Census Bureau. ().quickfacts.census.gov/gfd/maps/Virginia_map.hml
- U.S. Cancer Statistics Working Group. U.S. Cancer Statistics Data Visualizations Tool, based on November 2018 submission data (1999-2016):
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute; www.cdc.gov/cancer/dataviz, June 2019.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Breast Cancer: Recommendation Statement. (2015). Available from: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf09/breastcancer/brcanrs.htm
- Vang S, Margolies LR, Jandorf L. Mobile Mammography Participation Among
 Medically Underserved Women: A Systematic Review. Prev Chronic Dis 2018;
 15:180291. DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5888/pcd15.18029
- Wells, A., Shon, E., McGowan, K., & James, A. (2015). Perspectives of Low-Income

 African American Women Non-adherent to Mammography Screening: the

 Importance of Information, Behavioral Skills, and Motivation. Journal of Cancer

 Education, 32(2), 328-334.

- Wells, B., Thompson-Robinson, M. V. (2016). Using the Health Belief Model to Identify Perceived Barriers to Mammography Re-Screening among African American Women. Nevada Journal of Public Health, 13 1-9.
- Wilcox, M. L., Acuña, J. M., Ward-Peterson, M., Alzayed, A., Alghamdi, M., & Aldaham, S. (2016). Racial/ethnic disparities in annual mammogram compliance among households in Little Haiti, Miami-Dade County, Florida: An observational study. Medicine, 95(27), e3826. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000000000003826
- Williams DR, Cooper LA. Reducing Racial Inequities in Health: Using What We

 Already Know to Take Action. International Journal of Environmental Research
 and Public Health. 2019; 16(4):606. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16040606
- Williams F, Thompson E. Disparities in Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis: Importance of Race, Poverty, and Age. J Health Dispar Res Pract. 2017 Fall;10(3):34-45. PMID: 30637180; PMCID: PMC6326172.
- World Health Organization (WHO), 2006. Guidelines for the early detection and screening of breast cancer. EMRO Technical Publications Series, 30. Retrieved from http://applications.emro.who.int/dsaf/dsa696.pdf
- Wyatt, T., Pernenkil, V., & Akinyemiju, T. (2018). Trends in breast and colorectal cancer screening among U.S. adults by race, healthcare coverage, and SES before, during, and after the great recession. Preventive medicine reports, 7, 239-245. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.04.001
- Yankaskas, B. C., Dickens, P., Bowling, J. M., Jarman, M. P., Luken, K., Salisbury, K., Lorenz, C. E. (2010). Barriers to Adherence to Screening Mammography Among

- Women with Disabilities. American Journal of Public Health, 100(5), 947–953. http://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2008.150318
- Yedjou, C. G., Sims, J. N., Miele, L., Noubissi, F., Lowe, L., Fonseca, D. D.,
 Tchounwou, P. B. (2019). Health and Racial Disparity in Breast Cancer.
 Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology Breast Cancer Metastasis and
 Drug Resistance, 31–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20301-6_3
- Yedjou, C., Tchounwou, P., Payton, M., Miele, L., Fonseca, D., Lowe, L., & Alo, R.
 (2017). Assessing the Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Breast Cancer Mortality in the United States. International journal of environmental research and public health, 14(5), 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14050486
- Yu, S., Alper, H.E., Nguyen, AM. et al. The effectiveness of a monetary incentive offer on survey response rates and response completeness in a longitudinal study. BMC Med Res Methodol 17, 77 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0353-1
- Yuqi Guo, Tyrone C. Cheng & Hee Yun Lee (2019) Factors Associated with Adherence to Preventive Breast Cancer Screenings among Middle-aged African American Women, Social Work in Public Health, 34:7, 646-656, https://doi.org/ 10.1080/19371918.2019.1649226
- Zhao, G., Okoro, C., Li, J., & Town, M. (2018). Health Insurance Status and Clinical

 Cancer Screenings Among U.S. Adults. American journal of preventive medicine,

 54(1), e11e19-ee19. https://doi.org//10.1016/j.amepre.2017.08.024
- Zonderman, A., Ejiogu, N., Norbeck, J. and Evans, M. (2014). The Influence of Health Disparities on Targeting Cancer Prevention Efforts. American Journal of

Preventive Medicine, 46(3), pp.S87-S97. https://doi.org/

10.1016/j.amepre.2013.10.026